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The Northern Ireland Community Relations Council 
   

Chairman’s Foreword 
In my foreword last year, I reflected on the fact that CRC had been working for 21 years 
contributing to peace building and that the scale of the task remained a challenge. Events of 
the summer at one level gave hope that we could meet the challenges of societal differences 
and also rise to the challenges of the recently entered decade of centenaries. On the other 
hand, events around parading have served to rock us all back somewhat with violence all too 
easily becoming the mode of protest and the police being caught in the middle and sustaining 
significant casualties. The need for the work which CRC supports at community level remains 
vital as we strive to build a shared future on the platform of continuing political consensus 
and agreement. 

The past year has also seen the departure of Duncan Morrow as Chief Executive of CRC.  As 
Chief Executive for over 9 years Duncan helped transform the Council from a position where 
its role had been questioned to one where it is a major funder of good relations work and the 
leading commentator on peace building and creating a shared future. Duncan leaves a 
significant legacy in the work of peace building and I and the Council deeply appreciate all 
that he has done to lead the Council over the last decade. 

After the departure of Duncan Morrow at the end of 2011 Jacqueline Irwin, CRC deputy 
Chief Executive became Acting Chief Executive and following an open competition was 
successful in being appointed permanently to the post.  Jacqueline takes over the role at a 
challenging time and the Council wishes her well in her new leadership role. 

To some extent the past year has been dominated by rumour and counter rumour about the 
future role, if any, for the Council under the Executive’s plans for Cohesion, Sharing and 
Integration (CSI). To recap, CSI was issued for consultation just before the Assembly recess 
in 2010. Responses to the document were universally critical about its analysis and 
understanding of the issues facing communities here, its vision for future work and its 
apparent embracing of policy making which favoured a ‘separate but equal’  philosophy to 
peace building. 

The Council along with others made a substantial response to the consultation. These were to 
provide the context for consideration by an all party Assembly group set up following the 
election in May 2011. To date there has been no further policy initiative and two parties have 
withdrawn from the process. What role, if any, will emerge for the Council remains to be 
seen. The Council nonetheless continues to enjoy the confidence of all major funders (and 
recipients of funding), in terms of public accountability, and importantly meets in full 
Comptroller and Auditor General requirements for satisfactory accounts.  

Despite the ongoing uncertainty over the future of CRC its parent department, OFMdFM, has 
so far not initiated a review of CRC work which was due in 2011; and neither Ministers nor 
senior officials from OFMdFM have expressed any reservations about the quality or direction 
of the Council’s work. The Council, while an independent charity and classified as a Non 
Departmental Public Body, recognises that it does not have an inherent right to deliver the 
Executive's CSI programme. However, the Council continues to enjoy the confidence of those  
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The Northern Ireland Community Relations Council 
   

 
 

Chairman’s Foreword (continued) 

communities and those organisations working to build peace in Northern Ireland and I believe 
deeply that it can continue to play a pivotal role in whatever strategic direction the Executive 
determines. 

Reflecting on the past year, I wanted to highlight some key areas of our work. 

The Council together with the Heritage Lottery Fund developed some key principles for 
remembering centenaries in the public space and these were widely disseminated to 
government, agencies, councils, culture, heritage and interested groups. Council particularly 
welcomed the fact that the DCAL Minister, Caral Ni Chuilín embraced these principles on 
behalf of the Executive. A ten week Lecture series on Remembering the Future, 
commemorating the Decade 1912-22, was organised by CRC and the Heritage Lottery Fund 
and launched in March 2012 at the Ulster Museum by Ministers of NI Department of Culture 
Arts and Leisure and Minister Jimmy Deenihan, Department of Arts, Heritage and the 
Gaeltacht.  

The work to support victims continues to develop and CRC has worked closely with 
OFMdFM to ensure that the new Victims Service develops a comprehensive programme 
which will help all those affected by the violence of the past. 

In March 2012 CRC organised an annual conference on Interfaces, together with community 
partners and this was attended by the Minister of Justice David Ford.  CRC also published a 
guidance paper on the proposed Process for Interface Barrier Transformation/Removal, drawn 
up by the Interface Working Group, and this has been adopted by the Department of Justice 
and Belfast City Council.  
 
Community Relations Week was held in May 2011 with the theme ‘Division - No Quick Fix’.  
A centrepiece of the Week was CRC’s Policy Conference on ‘Reconciling the Books - the 
economic case for sharing’ which highlighted the fact that economic progress was linked to 
our readiness to address the challenges of cohesion, sharing and integration.  The Week 
received wide media coverage and was acknowledged by the First Minister in complimentary 
terms at Assembly Question Time.  It also attracted two Gold Awards in the NI CIPR 
(Chartered Institute of Public Relations) awards in November 2011.  

Facebook is an increasingly important addition to CRC’s communications channels, with an 
extensive following and to this was added, in September 2011, the popular social media 
device of Twitter.  Within its first 6 months CRC’s Twitter account had attracted 1,000 
visitors including important political and media followers. 

Finally, the last year saw the launch of the NI Peace Monitoring Report which was possible 
with independent funding from the Joseph Rowntree Foundation and the Joseph Rowntree 
Charitable Trust. CRC was able to conduct an independent review of the condition and impact 
of the peace process in Northern Ireland. The first report appeared in February 2012 and drew  
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The Northern Ireland Community Relations Council 
   

 

Chairman’s Foreword (continued) 

mainly on statistics that were in the public domain. Where official statistics did not tell the 
full picture survey-based data was also used. The report, compiled and written by Dr Paul 
Nolan, was well received and has been much used and quoted by politicians, journalists and 
other commentators. This is the start of an annual monitoring so that CRC will be able each 
year to measure the distance we have travelled, either closer to or further away from the 
shared goal of a peaceful and inclusive society.  

As indicated earlier the future is uncertain. Apart from the absence of CSI, it is clear that the 
funding of good relations work will reduce significantly in the years ahead. Even if there is a 
Peace 4 programme and IFI gets a further injection of funding, the available resources will be 
much less than has been available over the last 10 years. 

The work remains to be done however whether it is in schools, local communities or in the 
delivery of public policy.  CRC has been to the forefront of work to build a shared future and 
to challenge society as a whole about the need for change. We will continue to rise to that 
challenge. 

 

 

 

 

…………………………. 

A McCusker 
Chairman 
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The Northern Ireland Community Relations Council 
   

Chief Executive’s Comment 
 
The Community Relations Council is pleased to present its Annual Report for 2011-12 and, 
having recently taken up post as CEO, I would like to take this opportunity to pay tribute to 
my predecessor, Duncan Morrow, for his 9 years of dedicated leadership of the organisation.  
2011-12 was a challenging year for many organisations and CRC was no exception.  The 
organisation had to prepare for a change in leadership, deal with continuing cut backs in 
public funding, implement increasing audit and accountability requirements and sustain a 
vision for community relations in spite of the uncertainty in relation to the overarching public 
policy as set out in the draft document “Cohesion, Sharing and Integration”. 
 
Despite these pressures, the Community Relation Council delivered its plans for 2011-12 
which included the production of the first Northern Ireland Peace Monitor, in collaboration 
with the Joseph Rowntree Charitable Trust and the Joseph Rowntree Foundation.  The report 
was produced in February and welcomed as an important source of annual information 
assembled to allow us to examine, on the basis of evidence, our journey out of violence 
towards a society in which all can live free from fear and in relationships of trust and safety 
with our fellow citizens.  The report draws mainly on statistics that are in the public domain 
but which have not been previously assembled across the wide range of issues affecting life 
here.  Detailed and statistical evidence was gathered across four dimensions - security, 
equality, political progress and cohesion and sharing. We are indebted to the many bodies that 
provided data across these dimensions for the report and we are also grateful to those who 
served on the advisory board.   The report is available on our web-site along with many other 
valuable research reports that underpin our knowledge of issues affecting community 
relations. 
 
During the year CRC developed in partnership with the Heritage Lottery Fund five simple 
principles to underpin commemoration of a divided and contested history.  The principles 
were very well received and have since been adopted by many organisations.   
 
CRC also developed  a new Strategic Support Fund for Victims and Survivors of the conflict, 
at the request of and in collaboration with OFMDFM.  This fund replaces the Victims and 
Survivors Core Funding Scheme, also delivered by CRC, which provided support for 10 
years.  During the year the important role of volunteers in this work was reflected in our 
continuing support for the “Gift of Time” befriending service.  
 
In 2011/12 CRC delivered a full programme of conferences, seminars and other events to 
encourage learning and best practice which included the publication of examples of good 
practice draw from our small and Core grant schemes which are supported by OFMDFM.  
Our annual Community Relations Week involved over 150 events, and the award of 
Exceptional Achievement in Community Relations which went jointly to Michael Atcheson 
and Rab McCallum.  The theme for CR Week 2011/12 was “Division - No Quick Fix” and it 
received wide media coverage. It was also referred to in complimentary terms by the First 
Minister at the Assembly.  Beyond the conferences and events, we continue to promulgate  
best practice through our web-site and for more immediate issues, increasingly through our 
newer communication channels of Facebook and Twitter.  
 
CRC has worked closely with interface community partners and other agencies in seeking 
local agreement to reduce the number of peacewalls and we provided a guidance paper on  
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The Northern Ireland Community Relations Council 
   

Chief Executive’s Comment (continued) 
multi-agency processes of transformation.  The annual CRC Policy Conference in May 2011 
also examined the Economic Case for Sharing. 
 
During the year we also produced and consulted on a new strategic plan for 2011-14.   
 
CRC will deliver the aims of the new strategic plan through services that are responsive to 
need, accessible to all, fairly, economically and effectively delivered and with our 
commitment to a shared and better future to the fore at all times.  This ethos informs 
everything that CRC undertakes.  It assures me, as Accounting Officer, and hopefully all 
those who read this report, that the CRC takes very seriously its responsibilities as a 
development agency committed to embedding good community relations across our society.  
 
Many other achievements of 2011-12 are recorded in the performance review section of this 
report.  CRC remains a major funder of community relations work and in 2011-12 over £2M 
in grants were paid out with the support of OFMDFM; over £2M was administered on behalf 
of the European Union Peace III Programme and almost £4M on behalf of the International 
Fund for Ireland.  CRC also distributed over £6.6M, on behalf of OFMDFM, to groups 
supporting victims and survivors of the conflict.  A full list of the grants paid in 2011-12 is 
provided as an appendix to this annual report.  CRC has continued its role as an advisor to the 
Special EU Programmes Body and local authorities on the delivery of the District Council 
Peace III Progamme (Measure 1.1).  CRC also continues to have a member of staff working 
full time on delivery of the OFMDFM District Council Good Relations Programme.   
 
During the year CRC was also appointed by the International Fund for Ireland to administer 
its new Peace Walls funding initiative.  The removal of barriers and the opening of gates 
between communities represent a very meaningful exchange of trust which must be carefully 
nurtured for the sake of the next generations that should never have to live in fear.  It is the 
task of this generation to ensure that no-one feels hemmed in by hatred, mistrust or the 
memories of past hurts.  The responsibility for changing our segregated landscape cannot, 
however, rest solely on the shoulders of local communities.  It will take vision, investment, 
and changes in strategy across a wide range of public policy areas including housing and 
social development, education, culture, physical and economic regeneration.  
 
In addition to distributing funding to community relations initiatives in 2011-12, CRC has 
also continued to provide advice and a hub for the exchange of learning and best practice.  
The engagement between policy, practice and reflective evaluation remains critical to CRC.  
The organisation’s policy comment therefore continues to be based on evidence and 
experience, in our view the most sure-footed influence on the design of well crafted public 
policy that will deliver change and progress. 
 
The range of issues that make up the work of the Community Relations Council is daunting – 
cultural celebration, transforming interfaces, dispute mediation, shared spaces and diversity, 
education to build cohesion, reduction in violence and hate crime, inter-faith dialogue, dealing 
with the past, supporting victims and survivors of the conflict, youth and intergenerational 
relations, re-imaging urban landscapes, segregation in housing and building community 
relations in rural areas.  Positive change must be underpinned by a commitment to equality, 
human rights and community relations as an essential foundation on which to build a healthy 
democracy.  However while equality, human rights and good community relations are  
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The Northern Ireland Community Relations Council 
   

 
Chief Executive’s Comment (continued) 

essential for all of us, no one of these on its own will be sufficient.     It will take a concerted 
and integrated effort to build a just, equal, fair, peaceful and therefore cohesive society.  We 
are therefore all the more anxious to see robust and unambiguous support for community 
cohesion across all of our political institutions. During 2011-12 we were pleased to see the 
commitment of the Executive to equality and good relations written into its Programme for 
Government.  However, we still await the next draft of the government’s Cohesion, Sharing  
and Integration strategy.  The policy direction within the N.I. Executive, for the moment, is 
not an agreed or strategic one.  It is largely driven by crisis or by the immediate issues of the 
day and the priorities of the funders and we know that up to 80% of peace and reconciliation 
work may currently be sustained by external funding. The test for the new policy will be the 
extent to which it can deliver a progressive and positive improvement on the current policy 
framework “A Shared Future” and also its capacity to transform aspiration into change.  
Effective implementation is the key to transforming policy into action and delivering real 
improvements and change. 
 
I am grateful to the members of our Board for their continued support and commitment to the 
Community Relations Council.  I would particularly like to thank the Chairman, Tony 
McCusker, with his many years of experience in community relations he has steered the 
organisation through this year of change.  I would also like to pay tribute to my fellow 
members of staff for another year of hard work and personal commitment to delivering good 
and effective support to community relations.   
 
 
 
 
………………………. 
Jacqueline Irwin 
Chief Executive 
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The Northern Ireland Community Relations Council 
   

Directors’ Report 
History 

The Northern Ireland Community Relations Council was established in 1990 as an 
independent charity sponsored by the Community Relations Unit of the Office of the First 
Minister and Deputy First Minister (‘OFMDFM’). 
 
The main aim of the Northern Ireland Community Relations Council has been to assist the 
development of greater understanding and co-operation between political, cultural and 
religious communities in Northern Ireland. 
 
Structure, Governance and Management  
The Northern Ireland Community Relations Council is a company limited by guarantee, with 
no share capital, and is recognised as a charity by HM Revenue & Customs. 
 
The company was established under a Memorandum of Association which established the 
objects and powers of the charitable company and is governed under its Articles of 
Association.  In the event of the company being wound up members are required to contribute 
an amount not exceeding £1. 
 
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the accounting and 
disclosure requirements of Companies Act 2006, along with selected disclosures as 
recommended in the revised Statement of Recommended Practice 'Accounting and Reporting 
by Charities' 2005 and the Government Financial Reporting Manual (FReM) and  applicable 
Accounting Standards. 
 
Organisational Structure  

CRC is governed by the Members of the Council.  Where the Articles of Association refer to 
the Council, it can also be read as the Company, which shall mean the Members of the 
Council can also be read as the Directors of the Company. 
 
The Council has twenty one members and meets bi-monthly.  A scheme of delegation is in 
place and day to day responsibility for provision of services rests with the Chief Executive, 
Jacqueline Irwin, and the various Programme Committees. 
 
The Chief Executive, with the assistance of a senior management team, manages the day to 
day activities of the Council and reports directly to the Chairperson.  The Chief Executive and 
senior management team also provide progress reports to all Council meetings. 

Objectives and Activities  
Within the founding legislation the Minister has approved the overall aim for CRC as follows: 
 
The advancement of education and of other charitable purposes beneficial to the European 
Union (hereinafter called “the area of benefit”) but primarily in Northern Ireland and in 
particular, but not so as to limit the generality of the foregoing, the advancement of education 
in and understanding of the different cultural traditions of the peoples of the area of benefit 
and the improvement of community relations in the area of benefit. 
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The Northern Ireland Community Relations Council 
   

Directors’ Report (continued) 
 
Review of activities 

The Balance Sheet on page 27 shows that the company had a fund surplus of £432,619 at 31 
March 2012. 
 
The Statement of Financial Activities on page 26 indicates that the company had incoming 
resources of £11,640,207 in the year. Note 2 on page 32 shows OFMDFM as being the 
sponsor of 92% of this income.  This income exceeded outgoing resources of £11,470,796 by 
£169,411. The loss on the market value of the company pension scheme during the year was 
£416,000. The net deficit for the year is therefore £246,589. 

 
As required by legislative changes, the company adopted FRS17, the Accounting Standard on 
Retirement Benefits, for the first time for the year ended 31 March 2007. The valuation of the 
company’s pension scheme at 31 March 2012, for the purposes of FRS17, showed a funding 
deficit of £673,000 (2011: £286,000).  
 
This deficit represents the difference between the liabilities of the pension fund and the value 
of its underlying assets; it does not represent an immediate cash commitment, as the cash flow 
required to meet the deficit relates to future pension contributions. Therefore, this liability is 
expected to arise over the long-term rather than in the immediate future. The valuation of the 
pension schemes assets under FRS17 is different from the triennial actuarial valuation which 
determines the pension contributions required to reduce the deficit. Current financial 
projections indicate that the Community Relations Council will be able to make these 
contributions as they fall due.  

 
Directors’ 

The directors’ of the company during the year were as follows: 
 

Mr Anthony McCusker (Chairperson) 
Ms Hazel Francey 
Mr James Deery 
Mr Anthony Kennedy  
Mr Stephen Farry (resigned May 2011) 
Ms Sylvia Gordon 
Mr Eamonn Oakes (resigned June 2012) 
Ms Jacqueline Witherow  
Mr Hassan Mansour  
 

Ms Stella McDermott  
Ms Rosie McCorley  
Mr David Porter (retired September 2011) 
Mr William Gamble  
Ms Sinead McShane 
Mr David Russell  
Ms Kathleen Hanlon  
Dr Leon Litvack 
Mr Robin Morton  
Mr Jonathan Byrne  
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The Northern Ireland Community Relations Council 
   

Directors’ Report (continued) 
The Directors’ of NICRC are appointed through an independent appointments process 
conducted by NICRC which comply fully with guidance of the Office of the Commissioner 
for Public Appointments in Northern Ireland (‘OCPANI’).  OCPANI nominate an 
independent observer to ensure that due process is followed. 
 
Following appointment, all Directors’ receive ‘On Board’ training conducted by CIPFA, 
Equality and Recruitment training, conducted by the Equality Commission for Northern 
Ireland and a full induction into the work of the Community Relations Council conducted by 
CRC staff and chair.  Each sub-committee of CRC also offers induction training into the work 
of the committee for new members. 
 
Statement of grant making policies 
The Community Relations Council provides grant aid and advice to voluntary and community 
groups in support of projects which have a community relations purpose or value. 
The Council has a variety of funding schemes each tailored to promote certain aspects of 
community relations: 
 

• The Community Relations, Cultural Diversity Grant Scheme is intended to help 
community/voluntary groups in Northern Ireland develop their capacity to engage in 
community relations work and to enhance the community relations potential of 
projects they undertake.  The maximum award payable for this grant is £10,000. 

• The Council also makes available up to £50,000 per annum for community relations 
research. 
 

• The Core Funding Grant Scheme is designed to support voluntary and community 
organisations to develop community relations work in a strategic manner, on a 
regional basis.  Support is specifically targeted at work to combat sectarianism in 
Northern Ireland on a strategic long-term basis.  The amount awarded normally ranges 
between £20,000 and £60,000. 

• The Publications Grant Scheme aims to encourage the production and dissemination 
of publications that will contribute to greater understanding and better Community 
Relations in Northern Ireland.  The maximum award payable for this grant is £5,000. 

• The Media Grant Scheme aims to assist with the dissemination of Community 
Relations priorities via print, broadcast or other widely accessible media.  The 
maximum award payable for this grant is £40,000. 

• The Victims and Survivors Programme has been established to support the healing and 
recovery work with the Victims and Survivors of the Northern Ireland Troubles.  This 
Programme’s principal aim is to support Victims and Survivors to become active 
members of society.  The Programme is aimed at locally based and regional groups 
workings with Victims and Survivors of the Northern Ireland Troubles. 
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The Northern Ireland Community Relations Council 
   

Directors’ Report (continued) 
Performance against objectives 

The Council takes its planning objectives from “A Shared Future” published by OFMDFM in 
2005.  The current strategic plan for the CRC (2011-2014) was published during the year.  
The strategic objectives of the CRC and the organisation’s performance against those 
objectives are set out in the Annual Report. 
 
Risk management 
The directors’ have examined the major strategic, business and operational risks which the 
company faces and confirm that systems have been established to enable regular reports to be 
produced so that the necessary steps can be taken to lessen these risks. 
 
Future plans  

The Council has established four key themes for future activity:  
 

1. Building a shared society 

2. Addressing the legacy of violence and division 

3. Establishing the CRC as a centre of expertise and excellence at international level 

4. Sustaining CRC as an organisation that is responsive to change, adds value in the 
development of policy and practice and delivers services that are effective, efficient 
and in line with best practice   

Post balance sheet events 

There were no important events affecting the company which happened after the balance 
sheet date. 
 
Employee and Council involvement 
Northern Ireland Community Relations Council implements its business strategy through its 
staff.  In achieving business objectives the involvement of staff and Council members in 
planning and decision making is crucial.  Staff involvement includes monthly staff meetings 
and the use of project teams. 
 
Personal data 
Northern Ireland Community Relations Council is required to report on personal data related 
incidents and accordingly have a control system to meet these responsibilities under Data 
Protection Act 1998 and the Freedom of Information Act 2000. The control system has been 
established to ensure the appropriate handling of personal data and information used for 
operational and reporting purposes through the development of appropriate strategy and 
policy. In the 2011/12 year the Northern Ireland Community Relations Council received 
fifteen Freedom of Information (‘FOI’) requests. There were no instances of personal data 
loss during the period under review.  
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The Northern Ireland Community Relations Council 
   

Directors’ Report (continued) 
Absence data 

Listed in the table below are the sick absence results for the Northern Ireland Community 
Relations Council: 
 
 Working    Average days lost Absence rate 
 Days lost     per WTE member of            11/12 
       11/12  staff           %        
Including long-term absence 505 9.88 1.95  
Excluding long-term absence 278 5.44 1.96 

 
Fixed assets 

In the opinion of the directors’, the value of fixed assets as shown in the balance sheet is not 
substantially different from the market value at the balance sheet date. 
 
Pensions  

The Northern Ireland Community Relations Council participates in a defined benefit pension 
scheme administered by Northern Ireland Local Government Officers' Superannuation 
Committee (‘NILGOSC’) for all permanent staff. Further details are set out in the 
Remuneration Report on pages 18 to 20 and the accounting policies on pages 29 to 31.  
 

 

Prompt payment policy 
The Northern Ireland Community Relations Council is committed to the prompt payment of 
bills for goods and services received in accordance with the British Standard for Achieving 
Good Payment Performance in Commercial Transactions (BS 7890). Unless otherwise stated 
in the contract, payment is due within 30 days of the receipt of the goods or services, or 
presentation of a valid invoice or similar demand, whichever is later. 
 
Regular reviews conducted during the year to measure how promptly Northern Ireland 
Community Relations Council paid its bills found that 69% of bills were paid within this 
standard. It was also noted that 32% of bills were paid within 10 days.  
 
Related parties  
Details of the company’s related parties are set out in note 19 to the financial statements and 
in the Remuneration Report on page 18 to 20.  
 
Register of interests 
The Chairman, Board of Directors’, Chief Executive and Senior Management Team are 
required to register all interests, direct or indirect, which members of the public might 
reasonably think could influence their judgment. The register of interests is available for 
public inspection by contacting the Director of Finance, Administration and Personnel, 
Northern Ireland Community Relations Council, Glendinning House, 6 Murray Street, 
Belfast, BT1 6DN. 
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The Northern Ireland Community Relations Council 
   

 
Directors’ Report (continued) 

Corporate Governance   
The company’s Statement of Corporate Governance is set out on pages 16 and 17. 
 
Sustainability report 

The Council is aware of its responsibility to progress its work associated with sustainable 
development targets within the Implementation Plan emanating from the first Northern 
Ireland Sustainable Development Strategy.  As such, the Council will endeavour to set a 
number of sustainability targets within the 2012/13 financial year, and report on the progress 
and success of each of these targets. 
 
Statement of disclosure of information to the auditors   
The directors’ confirm that, for all directors’ in office at the date of this report: 

• So far as each director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the 
company’s auditors are unaware. For this purpose, “relevant audit information” 
comprises the information needed by the company’s auditors in connection with 
preparing their report; and  

 
• each director has taken all the steps (such as making enquiries of other directors’ and 

the auditors and any other steps required by the directors’ duty to exercise due care, 
skill and diligence) that he ought to have taken in his duty as a director in order to 
make himself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the 
company’s auditors are aware of that information. 

 
Auditors 

The Comptroller and Auditor General has the statutory responsibility for the audit of the 
Northern Ireland Community Relations Council under the Companies (Public Sector Audit) 
Order (Northern Ireland) 2008. There were no payments made to the Northern Ireland Audit 
Office in the year in respect of non audit work. 

 
Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors’ 
 
 
 
 
 
…………………………………. ………………………………….. 
A McCusker - Chairperson   J Irwin - Accounting Officer 
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The Northern Ireland Community Relations Council 
   

Statement of Accounting Officer’s and Directors’ Responsibilities 
 
 
Company law requires the Accounting Officer and Directors’ to prepare financial statements 
for each financial year which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company as 
at the balance sheet date and of its incoming resources and application of resources, including 
income and expenditure, for the financial year.  Additionally these accounts have to be in a 
form and on the basis determined by the OFMDFM, including being on an accruals basis. 
 
In preparing those financial statements, the Accounting Officer and Directors’ are required to 
comply with the requirements of the Government Financial Reporting Manual and in 
particular to: 
 

• observe the relevant accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable 
accounting policies on a consistent basis, 
 

• make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis, 
 

• state whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Government Financial 
Reporting Manual have been followed, and disclose and explain any material 
departures in the financial statements, and 

 
• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis. 

 
  

The Accounting Officer and Directors’ are also responsible for keeping proper accounting 
records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the 
company and to enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the 
Companies Act 2006.  The Accounting Officer and Directors’ have a general responsibility 
taking steps as are reasonably available to safeguard the assets of the company and to prevent 
and detect fraud and other irregularities. 
 
OFMDFM has appointed the Chief Executive as Accounting Officer of the Northern Ireland 
Community Relations Council. The responsibilities of an Accounting Officer, including the 
responsibility for the propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accounting 
Officer is answerable, for keeping proper records and for safeguarding the Northern Ireland 
Community Relation Council’s assets are set out in the company’s financial memorandum.   
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The Northern Ireland Community Relations Council 
   

 
Statement of Corporate Governance 

 

The Northern Ireland Community Relations Council is committed to the highest standards of 
corporate governance. The company values good corporate governance both in the area of 
accountability and risk management and also as a positive contribution to the development of 
the business.  
 
The policy of the company has been to manage the company’s affairs in accordance with the 
HM Treasury’s “Corporate Governance in Central Government Departments – A Code of 
Good Practice” issued in July 2005, so far as the Board of Directors’ considers appropriate 
and relevant to the nature and scale of the company’s operations.  
 
The Chief Executive is the Accounting Officer of the Northern Ireland Community Relations 
Council, responsible and accountable for the management of the Northern Ireland Community 
Relations Council funds and assets.  
 
There is a financial memorandum with the Office of the First and Deputy First Minister 
(‘OFMDFM’) and contracts with the Victims Unit, International Fund for Ireland and the 
Special EU Programmes Body which govern activity between the Northern Ireland 
Community Relations Council and those main funders. Representatives from ‘OFMDFM’ are 
invited to attend all Board and Committee meetings. Operational updates are sent to funders 
on a quarterly basis.  
 
Throughout 2011/12, the Chairman of the Board was Anthony McCusker. He ensures that all 
directors receive sufficient, accurate and timely information on the financial, business and 
corporate issues prior to meetings.  
 
The details of Directors’ and Senior Management remuneration are contained within the 
remuneration report on pages 18 to 20.  
 
The Board focuses on the business strategy and key policy decisions affecting the company. 
The Board has responsibility for ensuring the highest standards of corporate governance, 
efficiency and propriety in the use of public funds.  
 
The Board meets on average six times each year. In 2011/12 it met formally six times.  
 
To achieve the most effective discharge of its functions, the Board of Directors’ has delegated 
certain powers and duties to the following Board Committees; 

• The Audit Committee assists the Board in monitoring the company’s accounting 
policies, internal controls and corporate governance arrangements. 

 

• The Finance and General Purposes Committee assists the Board in monitoring all 
Governance, Financial and Human Resources matters. 

 

• The Policy and Communications Committee assists the Board in developing and 
communicating policy. 
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The Northern Ireland Community Relations Council 
   

 
Statement of Corporate Governance (continued) 

 
 

• The Community Initiatives Committee assists the Board in making decisions about 
priorities in work and grant aid in community relations. 

 

• The Victims and Survivors Committee assists the Board in policy and practice in 
relation to Victims and Survivors of the Troubles. 

 

• The EU Steering group is a joint committee with Pobal assisting the Board in fulfilling 
all aspects of our contract with the PEACE III programme. 

 
Audit Committee 

The Audit Committee comprises the non-executive Board Directors’ of the company. The 
Audit Committee was chaired by Stella McDermott. Other members are Billy Gamble, James 
Deery and Hassan Mansour. The Chief Executive, internal auditors and representatives from 
the Northern Ireland Audit Office are invited to attend all meetings. The Audit Committee 
met formally five times during 2011/12.  
 
The Audit Committee assists the Board in reviewing the effectiveness of the company’s 
internal control systems and also reviews the Annual Report and Financial Statements, before 
submission to the Board, to ensure that they present a fair assessment of the company’s 
financial position and results. The Audit Committee focuses on reviewing any changes in 
accounting policy, major areas of judgement and estimates and compliance with accounting 
principles and regulatory requirements.  
 
The Committee makes recommendations to the Board in relation to the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of the internal auditors; and to approve the remuneration and terms 
of engagement of the internal auditors.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 17

4483 CRC Annual Report_Layout 1  13/11/2012  19:45  Page 17



The Northern Ireland Community Relations Council 
   

Remuneration Report 
 
Remuneration of senior Directors is set out in their contracts and subject to annual 
revalorisation. The notice period for all senior Directors of the Northern Ireland Community 
Relations Council does not exceed six months. Appointment is on merit on the basis of fair 
and open competition.  
 
The arrangements for early termination of senior Directors are made in accordance with the 
employment contract of the relevant individual. During the year no early termination 
payments were paid to these members.  
 
Directors’ & Executive Senior Staff Emoluments (audited) 
The following directors’ and senior staff received emoluments directly from the Northern 
Ireland Community Relations Council during the year.    
     
   2012 2012 2012 2011 2011 2011 
   Salary/ Bonus            Benefits    Salary/ Bonus            Benefits 
   Chairpersons  in      Chairpersons              in 
   Fee                         kind           fee       kind 
   £’000 £’000 £’000    £’000    £’000    £’000     
 
D Morrow                 55-60  - - 60-65 - - 
CEO                         (65-70 full year equivalent) 
J Irwin                      55-60  - - 50-55 - - 
Deputy CEO/CEO 
A McCusker 
Chairman                  15-20  - - 15-20 - -
   
  
Executive Senior staff emoluments consisted of gross salary to the extent that it is subject to 
UK taxation and any gratia payments.  
 
The monetary value of benefits in kind covers any benefits provided by the employer and 
treated by the HM Revenue & Customs as taxable emoluments.  
 
Other than the post of Chairman, no other Council Member is remunerated. 
 
 
 

Ratio of Median Remuneration to Highest Paid Director   
 2012 2011 
 £’000 £’000 
Band of Highest Paid Director’s Total Remuneration 65 – 70 60 – 65 
Median Total Remuneration 30,556 30,190 
Ratio 2.2 2.1 
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The Northern Ireland Community Relations Council 
   

Remuneration Report (continued) 
 
 
 
 

Exit Packages 
Exit 
Package 
Cost 
Band 

Number of 
compulsory 

redundancies 

Number of 
other 

departures 
agreed 

Total 
number 

of exit 
packages 

by cost 
band 

Number of 
compulsory 

redundancies 

Number of 
other 

departures 
agreed 

Total 
number 

of exit 
packages 

by cost 
band 

 2012 2012 2012 2011 2011 2011 
<£5,000 2 - 2 - - - 
£10,000 - 
£15,000 
 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

Total 
number 
of exit 
packages 
by type 
 

 
 

2 
 

 
 

- 

 
 

2 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 

Total 
resource  
cost/ £ 

 
£2,860 

 
- 

 
£2,860 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
One ill health retirement occurred in 2010/11.  Ill health retirement costs are met by the 
Pension Scheme and are not included in the table. 
 
Pension Benefits (audited)  
 
   Accrued Real            CETV        CETV Real  Employer 
   Pension increase at    at            increase  contribution 
   at age 60       in pension     31/03/12      31/03/11     in CETV to p’ship 
   as at 31/03/12 & related    pension 
   & related lump sum    account 
   lump sum at age 60     
   £’000 £’000 £’000    £’000    £’000    £’000     
D Morrow 20-25 0-1 114 99 6 - 
Chief Executive  Plus lump sum      
Officer  of 15 - 20    
  
J Irwin 35-40 0-2.5 267 215 84 - 
Deputy Chief  Plus lump sum     
Executive Officer  of 25 - 30  

 
Pensions 

The Northern Ireland Community Relations Council participates in a defined benefit pension 
scheme administered by NILGOSC for all permanent staff.  The employer makes a 
contribution of 18% of basic salary to the company’s pension scheme.  The employee does 
not have to contribute to this scheme. 
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The Northern Ireland Community Relations Council 
   

Remuneration Report (continued) 
 
 

The Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) 
A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capitalised value of the 
pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The benefits 
valued are the member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s pension payable from 
the scheme. A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure 
pension benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a 
scheme and chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme. The pension 
figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a consequence of their 
total membership of the pension scheme, not just their service in a senior capacity to which 
disclosure applies. The CETV figures, and from 2003-04 the other pension details, include the 
value of any pension benefit in another scheme or arrangement which the individual has 
transferred to the NILGOSC arrangements. They also include any additional pension benefit 
accrued to the member as a result of their purchasing additional years of pension service in 
the scheme at their own cost. CETVs are calculated in accordance with The Occupational 
Pension Schemes (Transfer Values) (Amendment ) Regulations and do not take account of 
any actual or potential benefits resulting from Lifetime Allowance Tax which may be due 
when pension benefits are taken. 
 
Real increase in CETV 
This reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the employer. It does not include the 
increase in accrued pension due to inflation, contributions paid by the employee (including 
the value of any benefits transferred from another pension scheme or arrangement) and uses 
common market valuation factors for the start and end of the period. 
 
 
Transactions involving Directors’ and Related Parties 
Directors’ of the Company also carry out various roles within organisations which receive 
financial assistance from the Northern Ireland Community Relations Council. The Directors’ 
disclose these interests on an annual basis by submitting ‘Declaration of Interests’ returns. 
Directors’ are not involved in funding decisions for organisations in which they have declared 
an interest.  
 

 

………………………………….. 
J Irwin - Accounting Officer       10 October 2012 
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The Northern Ireland Community Relations Council 
   

Statement on Internal Control 
Scope of responsibility  
As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal 
control that supports the achievement of the company’s policies, aims and objectives, whilst 
safeguarding the public funds and company assets for which I am personally responsible, in 
accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me under Managing Public Money in 
Northern Ireland (‘MPMNI’). 
 
Purpose of the system of internal control  
The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level rather than to 
eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives; it can therefore only 
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. 
 
The system of internal control is based on an ongoing process designed to identify and 
prioritise the risks to the achievement of departmental policies, aims and objectives, to 
evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they be realised, 
and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically. The system of internal control 
has been in place in the Northern Ireland Community Relations Council for the year ended 
31st March 2012 and up to the date of approval of the annual report and accounts, and accords 
with Department of Finance and Personnel (DFP) guidance.  
 
Capacity to handle risk  

We have carried out appropriate procedures to ensure that we have identified the company’s 
objectives and risks and determined a control strategy for each of the significant risks.  As a 
result, risk ownership has been allocated to the appropriate staff and the company has set out 
its attitude to risk for the achievement of the company’s objectives. 
The management board has ensured that procedures are in place for verifying risk 
management and internal controls are regularly reviewed and reported on.  Risk management 
will continue to be incorporated into the corporate planning and decision-making processes of 
the company. 
 
Risk and control framework 

The board receives periodic reports concerning internal control.  The appropriate steps are 
being taken to manage risks in significant areas of responsibility and monitor progress reports 
on key projects. 
 
Following the identification of the company’s key objectives and risks, further work has been 
done to bring about more consistency in the way in which the company treats risks. 
 
In addition to the actions mentioned above, as part of an ongoing process, the company:  

• regularly reviews and updates the record of risks facing the organisation; 
• reviews the risk register which is a standing item at Audit Committee meetings; 
• operates a system of key performance and risk indicators; 
• develops and maintains an organisation-wide risk register. 
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The Northern Ireland Community Relations Council 
   

Statement on Internal Control 
 
Internal audit is provided by KPMG.  This internal audit unit operates to standards defined in 
the Government Internal Audit Standards 2011 and submit regular reports on the adequacy 
and effectiveness of the Northern Ireland Community Relations Council system of internal 
control together with recommendations for improvement.  
 
Review of effectiveness  

As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of 
internal control. My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed 
by the work of the internal auditors, the Audit Committee which oversees the work of the 
internal auditor, the executive managers within the Northern Ireland Community Relations 
Council who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the internal control 
framework, and comments made by the external auditors in their management letter and other 
reports. I have been advised on the implications of the result of my review of the effectiveness 
of the system of internal control by the Board, the Audit Committee and a plan to address 
weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement of the system is in place.  
 
Significant internal control issues 
In respect of 2011/12, internal audit provided me with information regarding the adequacy 
and effectiveness on internal controls operating within the Community Relations Council. 
These have provided some reassurance that CRC systems are robust. In KPMG’s Annual 
Internal Audit Assurance Report, they have stated that in their opinion during the twelve 
month period ended 31st March 2012, the NICRC internal control systems provided 
satisfactory assurance in relation to the General Financial Controls, the European Programme 
and Corporate Governance.  
 
The internal audit report notes that there are a number of areas where CRC should put 
procedures in place to strengthen the existing processes and controls in order to fully meet 
managements control objectives. Significant work was carried out within the finance 
department to address the recommendations made after an initial internal audit in relation to 
the Review of General Financial Controls earlier in the year carried a limited assurance rating 
with 3 Priority 1, 8 Priority 2 and 3 Priority 3 recommendations.   A subsequent review of 
General Financial Controls was carried out in May 2012 and the assurance rating was 
confirmed as “satisfactory” with only 1 Priority 1 recommendation and 3 Priority 2 
recommendations that had not yet been fully addressed.  The overall internal audit position at 
the end of the year is that 16 new recommendations have been identified in the year ended 31 
March 2012, 8 of which have already been addressed and management have agreed a 
timescale for implementation of the remaining recommendations in addition to 5 
recommendations brought forward from prior years that have not yet been fully completed.  
 
At the end of the financial year ended 31 March 2011, as reported in the Statement of Internal 
Control, there were two ongoing investigations into possible irregularities within the funded 
groups that had received funding from CRC.  During the year ended 31 March 2012 one of 
the investigations concluded with no financial implications for Community Relations Council.   
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The Northern Ireland Community Relations Council 
   

Statement on Internal Control (continued) 
 
In relation to the second investigation a formal request for clawback of funding has been 
made to the Chairman of the group. 
 
During the year ended 31 March 2012 CRC was asked to provide information in relation to 
two other investigations into a group which had, in previous years, received funding from 
CRC.  The investigations are being led by two different government Departments and relate 
to potential double funding in one of the cases and potential irregularities in the other.  
 
Progress on all investigations continues to be monitored by the Audit Committee which is 
attended by NIAO and a representative from OFMDFM. 
 
 
 
………………………………….  
J Irwin - Accounting Officer     10 October 2012 
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The Northern Ireland Community Relations Council 
   

Statement of Financial Activities for Year Ended 31 March 2012 
 

 Unrestricted Restricted Total Total 
 Funds Funds Funds Funds 

 2012 2012  2012 2011 
 Note £  £  £ £ 
Incoming resources      
Grants receivable 2 285,527 11,335,090 11,620,617 10,180,145 
Investment income   2,639 - 2,639 1,250 
Other income 3 16,951 - 16,951 15,159 
  ------------ -------------- -------------- -------------- 
Total incoming resources  305,117 11,335,090 11,640,207 10,196,554 
  ------------ -------------- -------------- -------------- 
Resources expended      
Direct charitable expenditure:      
Grants payable 5 - 8,565,427 8,565,427 7,329,798 
Support costs 6 225,676 2,402,052 2,627,728 2,122,633 
  ------------ -------------- -------------- -------------- 
  225,676 10,967,479 11,193,155 9,452,431 
  ------------ -------------- -------------- -------------- 
Other expenditure:      
Administration and management 7 - 277,641 277,641 166,243 
  ------------ -------------- -------------- -------------- 
Total resources expended  225,676 11,245,120 11,470,796 9,618,674 
  ------------ -------------- -------------- -------------- 
Net incoming resources before       

other recognised gains and losses  79,441 89,970 169,411 577,880 
  ------------ ------------ ------------ ------------ 
Other recognised gains/losses      
Actuarial (loss)/gain on market 
value of the defined benefit 

     

 scheme’s assets and liabilities 18 - (416,000) (416,000) 1,357,000 
 ----------- ----------- ----------- ------------- 
Net movement in funds   79,441 (326,030) (246,589) 1,934,880 
Fund balances brought      
forward at 1 April 2011  - 679,208 679,208 (1,255,672) 
  ------------ ------------ ------------ ------------- 
Fund balances carried      
forward at 31 March 2012  79,441 353,178 432,619 679,208 
  ======= ======= ======= ======= 

 
 
 

All activities of the company are classed as continuing. 
 

The notes on pages 29 to 45 form part of these financial statements 
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The Northern Ireland Community Relations Council 
   

Balance Sheet as at 31 March 2012 
 
  2012 2011 
 Note £    £    
Fixed assets 
Tangible fixed assets 9 156,649 193,895 
Intangible fixed assets 10 16,824 16,216
  ---------- ---------- 
  173,473 210,111 
Current assets 
Debtors and prepayments 11 2,220,725 2,016,118 
Cash at bank and in hand  336,485 632,300 
  ------------ ---------- 
  2,557,210 2,648,418 
 

Creditors: amounts falling 
due within one year 12 (1,625,064) (1,893,321) 
  ---------- ---------- 
Net current assets  932,146 755,097 
 
Net assets excluding pension liabilities  1,105,619 965,208 
 
Defined benefit pension liability 18 (673,000) (286,000) 
  ------------ ------------ 
Net assets including pension liabilities  432,619 679,208 
  ====== ====== 
 
Funds  15 432,619 679,208 
  ====== ====== 
 
In the view of the Council an exemption from the audit requirements of Part 16 of the 
Companies Act 2006 is available under section 482 of that Act, since the company meets the 
Department of Finance and Personnel’s definition of a non-profit making company and is 
subject to a public sector audit under the Companies (Public Sector Audit) Northern Ireland 
Order 2008, being an order issued under Article 5(3) of the Audit and Accountability 
(Northern Ireland) Order 2003. The Council therefore claims this exemption.  
 
Approved by the Board of Directors’ on 10 October 2012 and signed on its behalf by: 
 
 
 
……………………………… ………………………………….. 
A McCusker – Chairperson J Irwin – Accounting Officer 

 
 
 
 

The notes on pages 29 to 45 form part of these financial statements
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The Northern Ireland Community Relations Council 
   

Cash Flow Statement for Year Ended 31 March 2012 
 
  2012 2011 
 Note £    £    
 
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from operating activities    13 (278,943) 402,742 
  ---------- ------------ 
 
Financial investment 
Bank interest  2,639 1,250 
  ---------- ---------- 
Returns on investments and servicing of finance  2,639 1,250 
  ---------- ---------- 
 
Capital Expenditure 
Purchase of tangible fixed assets    9 (12,321) (58,085) 
Disposal of tangible fixed assets  - - 
Purchase of intangible fixed assets    10 (7,190) (4,183) 
Disposal of intangible assets  - - 
  ---------- ---------- 
Net cash outflow from Capital Expenditure  (19,511) (62,268) 
  ---------- ---------- 
 
  ---------- ------------ 
(Decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents  (295,815) 341,724 
  ====== ======= 
 
Opening cash at bank and in hand  632,300 290,576 
(Decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents  (295,815) 341,724 
  ---------- ---------- 
Closing cash at bank and in hand  336,485 632,300 
  ====== ====== 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

The notes on pages 29 to 45 form part of these financial statements 
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The Northern Ireland Community Relations Council 
   

Notes to the Financial Statements for Year Ended 31 March 2012 

 
1. Accounting policies 

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the accounting and 
disclosure requirements of Companies Act 2006, along with selected disclosures as 
recommended in the revised Statement of Recommended Practice 'Accounting and 
Reporting by Charities' 2005 and the Government Financial Reporting Manual (FReM) 
and  applicable Accounting Standards. 
 

 The principal accounting policies are as follows: 
 

Accounting convention 
The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention. The directors’ 
do not consider the current costs of any of the year’s transactions or closing balances to 
be materially different from the historical cost. 
 
Basis of accounting  
Income and expenditure are treated on the accruals basis of accounting. Without limiting 
the information given, the accounts meet the accounting and disclosure requirements of 
the Companies Act 2006 and Accounting Standards issued or adopted by the Accounting 
Standards Board and accounting and disclosure requirements issued by the Department of 
Finance and Personnel. 
 

 Going Concern 
 

On 2 April 2012, the First Minister and Deputy First Minister established a new service 
for victims and survivors of the conflict.  It has been agreed that the Victims and 
Survivors Programme currently run by the Community Relations Council will transfer to 
the new service.  This will be taken into account in the preparation of the relevant 
2012/13 financial statements.   
 
On 23 July 2010, the First Minister and Deputy First Minister announced a review of 
community relations policy, which also included an examination of different ways in 
which current services might be provided in the future.  The review is considering several 
options, some of which would impact on the operations of the Community Relations 
Council.  Ministers have not yet announced the outcome of the review and the 
Accounting Officer and Directors’ consider that it is appropriate to prepare financial 
statements on the going concern basis.  The financial statements do not include any 
adjustments that would result from a decision to alter the operations of the Community 
Relations Council, or to transfer its activities to another entity. 
 

 Income 
 Income comprises all funding provided to the company for its own purposes.  Grants of a  
 revenue nature are recognised as income in the year to which they relate. 
 

Grants of a capital nature are recognised in the Statement of Financial Activities and 
reflected in general funds which are reduced over the useful economic life of the asset. 
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The Northern Ireland Community Relations Council 
   

Notes to the Financial Statements for Year Ended 31 March 2012 

(continued) 
1.  Accounting policies (continued) 
 Taxation 
 The Company is a registered charity and is therefore exempt from Income and Capital 
 taxes, but not Value Added Tax. 
 

The majority of the Northern Ireland Community Relations Council incoming resources 
are through grant and voluntary funding which is outside the scope of Value Added Tax. 
Accordingly the Northern Ireland Community Relations Council is not VAT registered 
and amounts in these accounts are inclusive of Value Added Tax where charged. 
 
Provisions  
The Company makes provisions for liabilities and charges where, at the balance sheet 
date, a legal or constructive liability exists (i.e. a present obligation from past events 
exists), where the transfer of economic benefits is probable and a reasonable estimate can 
be made. Where the time value of money is material, the Northern Ireland Community 
Relations Council discounts the provision to its present value using a standard 
Government discount rate. 

 
 Fixed assets 

Fixed assets are stated on the balance sheet at cost and depreciated in order to write off 
the original cost of the assets over their expected useful lives on a straight line basis over 
the following number of years: 

 
  Building improvements - 10 years 
  Fixtures and fittings - 5 years 
  Computer equipment – 5 years 
 
 The minimum level of capitalisation of tangible fixed assets is £100. 
 
 Intangible fixed assets 

Computer licences for internal recording and reporting systems are capitalised as 
intangible assets. The minimum level of capitalisation of an intangible asset is £100. 
They are amortised over a period of 5 years.      

 Grants payable 
Grants are treated as paid if they have been authorised for payment by officers at the 
appropriate level. Grants payable include amounts paid in year and amounts accrued and 
still to be paid at the balance sheet date.  

 
 Employee Benefits  
Staff costs must be recorded as an expense as soon as an organisation is obliged to pay 
them. This includes the cost of any untaken leave at the year end. This cost has been 
calculated using the untaken leave per staff member and applying this to their annual 
salary to calculate the leave balance as at 31st March 2012.   
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The Northern Ireland Community Relations Council 
   

 Notes to the Financial Statements for Year Ended 31 March 2012 
(continued) 

1. Accounting policies (continued) 

 Pension scheme  
The company operates a defined benefit pension scheme for its employees.  Scheme 
funds are administered by NILGOSC. 
The pension liabilities and assets are recorded in line with FRS17, with a valuation 
undertaken by an independent actuary. FRS17 measures the value of pension assets and 
liabilities at the Balance Sheet date, determines the benefits accrued in the year and the 
interest on assets and liabilities.  

 
The value of benefits accrued is used to determine the pension charge in the Statement of 
Financial Activities and the expected return on scheme assets and interest cost on scheme 
liabilities are allocated across the appropriate incoming/outgoing resource categories. The 
change in value of assets and liabilities arising from asset valuation, changes in benefits, 
actuarial assumptions, or change in the level of deficit attributable to members is 
recognised in the Statement of Financial Activities. The resulting pension liability or 
asset is shown on the Balance Sheet. 
 

 Resources expended 
Support costs include all expenditure directly relating to the objects of the company.   
 
Administration and Management costs comprises the costs involved in complying with 
constitutional and statutory requirements and any other costs which cannot be treated as 
direct charitable expenditure. 
 
Costs incurred for meetings, seminars and other specific expenditure relating to the 
individual programmes are classified as Programme Costs. 

 
 Operating leases 

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged on a straight line basis over the term 
of the lease. 

 
 Funds 

All income received by the company must be used for specific purposes which are within 
the overall aims of the company. 

 
 Adoption of new and revised standards  

Management has reviewed new accounting standards that have been issued but are not 
yet effective, nor adopted early for these accounts. Management consider that these are 
unlikely to have a significant impact on the accounts in the period of initial application.  
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The Northern Ireland Community Relations Council 
   

Notes to the Financial Statements for Year Ended 31 March 2012 

(continued)   

2. Grants receivable     
  

 Unrestricted Restricted Total Total 
 Funds Funds Funds Funds 
 2012 2012 2012 2011 
OFMDFM - Community Relations £ £ £ £ 
Core funding - 2,263,034 2,263,034 2,261,896 
Core funded grants - 1,300,433 1,300,433 1,322,500 
OFMDFM -Victims Support Unit     
Victims support grants - 6,429,598 6,429,598 3,133,966 
Victims core funded grants - 46,240 46,240 1,931,153 
Victims running costs grants - 583,090 583,090 643,460 
SEUPB     
  Peace III - 549,229 549,229 534,268 
International Fund for Ireland     
  Community Bridges Programme 
  Evaluation & Learning Programme 

285,527 
- 

- 
62,383 

285,527 
62,383 

249,620 
67,666 

Joseph Rowntree Charitable Trust 
Joseph Rowntree Foundation 

- 
- 

47,484 
53,599 

47,484 
53,599 

35,616 
- 

 ----------- -------------- --------------- -------------- 
 285,527 11,335,090 11,620,617 10,180,145 
 ====== ======== ======== ======== 
 
 
3. Other Income  Unrestricted Total 
    Funds Funds 
    2012             2011 

   £ £ 
 Rental income   16,951 15,159 
 Books sales   - - 
     ---------- ---------- 
     16,951 15,159 
     ====== ====== 
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The Northern Ireland Community Relations Council 
   

Notes to the Financial Statements for Year Ended 31 March 2012 

(continued) 
 
 

4. Particulars of employees   2012            2011 
 
 The average number of full time equivalent employees  
 during the year were:   No. No. 
 
 Permanent   23 17 
 Fixed term   28 34 
     --- --- 
     51 51 
     == == 
 
 The costs associated with their employment were:  £    £    
 Salaries and wages   1,500,633 1,552,042 
 Social security costs   87,698 86,945 
 Agency staff costs   60,414 48,671 
 Pension service cost   310,000 284,000 
 Net return on pension scheme assets; 
  Interest Cost   243,000 275,000 
  Expected Return on Employer Assets   (284,000) (236,000) 
 Past service cost/(gain)  - (578,000)
    ------------ ------------ 
     1,917,745 1,432,658 
     ======= ======= 
  
   
 
5. Grants payable   Restricted Total 

     Funds Funds 
     2012 2011 
     £    £    
 

 Small Grants Scheme   550,027 552,500 
 Publications and Media   69,950 69,738 
 Core Funding   1,299,294 1,322,500 
 Victims Support and Victims Core funding   6,407,029 5,065,119 
 Pathfinder   239,127 319,941 
     -------------- ------------ 
 Total grants payable   8,565,427 7,329,798 
     ======== ======= 
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The Northern Ireland Community Relations Council 
   

Notes to the Financial Statements for Year Ended 31 March 2012 

(continued)    
6. Analysis of resources expended    

 Unrestricted Restricted Total Total 
 Funds Funds Funds Funds 
 2012 2012 2012 2011 
Support costs: £ £ £ £ 
Salaries and wages 172,994 1,595,907 1,768,901 1,296,425 
Programme costs 491 336,435 336,926 271,934 
Staff travel and subsistence 7,936 40,121 48,057 53,814 
Advertising and public relations 60 26,138 26,198 25,356 
Postage and stationery 4,627 29,628 34,255 44,092 
Light, heat and telephone 4,999 34,019 39,018 43,746 
Rent, rates and insurance 25,071 214,675 239,746 235,673 
Repairs and maintenance 1,945 26,054 27,999 39,764 
Depreciation 5,471 50,678 56,149 52,823 
Professional fees 977 15,463 16,440 28,904 
Sundry expenses 855 6,070 6,925 6,793 
HR costs 250 3,579 3,829 5,309 
Chairperson fee - 23,285 23,285 18,000 
 ------------ -------------- -------------- -------------- 
 225,676 2,402,052 2,627,728 2,122,633 
 ======= ======== ======== ======== 
7. Administration and management: 
  

 Unrestricted Restricted Total Total 
 Funds Funds Funds Funds 
 2012 2012 2012 2011 
 £ £ £ £ 
Salaries and wages - 148,844 148,844 136,233 
Accountancy services - - - 19,963 
Audit services - 36,200 36,200 22,190 
Members and Committee expenses - 5,523 5,523 5,875 
Foreign exchange loss/(gain) - 18,804 18,804 (18,018) 
Bad debt provision - 67,526 67,526 - 
Bad debts written off - 744 744 - 
 ---------- ---------- ---------- ---------- 
 - 277,641 277,641 166,243 
 ====== ====== ====== ====== 
The Northern Ireland Audit Office performs the annual statutory audit of CRC at a cost of 
£20,000. 
Thirteen Directors were paid travelling and subsistence costs totalling £3,291 in 2011-12. 
This is included in the Members and Committee expenses cost above. Included within notes 6 
and 7 are administration costs of £286,989 and £588,191 incurred by the Northern Ireland 
Community Relations Council in the administration of grants funded by the International 
Fund for Ireland under their Community Bridges Project and the Special European Union 
Programmes Body under their Peace III programme respectively.  Grant payments related to 
these administrative costs are paid directly by the funders and amount to £5.7m in the year. 
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The Northern Ireland Community Relations Council 
   

Notes to the Financial Statements for Year Ended 31 March 2012 

(continued) 

8. Segmental Reporting 
 
Analysis of Net Expenditure by Segment: 
 
IFRS 8 “Operating Segments” requires disclosure of financial information about an 
organisation's reportable segments based on the internal reporting arrangements as 
reviewed by the “Chief Operating Decision Maker” (CODM).  The CODM for the 
Council is deemed to be the Council Members since they have the authority for directing 
the main activities of the Council throughout the year.  The Council approves the annual 
budget and, at each Council meeting, reviews management accounts and corresponding 
segmental financial information. 
 
The Council's two main operating segments which comprise more than 75% of the 
Council's net expenditure are the Community Relations Programme and the Victims and 
Survivors Programme. 
 
The Community Relations Programme is designed to support voluntary and community 
organisations in developing community relations work strategically and by enhancing the 
community relations potential of projects undertaken by funded groups. 
The Victims and Survivors Programme's main aim is to support Victims and Survivors in 
becoming active members of society. 
 
 
The following table summarises the budgeted spend for the operating segments for the 
year ended 31 March 2012. 

 
Segment Community 

Relations 
£’000 

Victims & 
Survivors 

£’000 

Total 
 

£’000 
 
Gross expenditure 

 
3,524 

 
7,012 

 
10,536 

Income 3,567 7,073 10,640 
 -------- --------- --------- 
Total net income/(expenditure) per SOFA 
by Operating Segment 

 
43 

 
61 

 
104 

 ==== ==== ===== 
Reconciling item:    
Contracted programmes   65 
   ------- 
Total net income/(expenditure) per SOFA   169 
   ==== 
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The Northern Ireland Community Relations Council 
   

Notes to the Financial Statements for Year Ended 31 March 2012 

(continued) 

 
9. Tangible fixed assets          Fixtures 
   Leasehold Computer  and    
   Improvements Equipment Fittings Total    
 Cost: £      £      £      £       
 Balance at 1 April 2011 322,487 143,330 113,986 579,803 
 Additions - 10,858 4,055 14,913 
 Adjustments - - (2,592) (2,592) 
   ---------- ---------- ---------- ---------- 
 Balance at 31 March 2012 322,487 154,188 115,449 592,124 
   ---------- ---------- ---------- ---------- 

 Accumulated depreciation: 
 Balance at 1 April 2011 220,419 89,939 75,550 385,908 
 Charge for year 22,155 16,674 10,738 49,567 
   --------- ---------- ---------- ---------- 
 Balance at 31 March 2012 242,574 106,613 86,288 435,475 
   --------- ---------- ---------- ---------- 

 Net book value: 
 At 31 March 2012 79,913 47,575 29,161 156,649 
   ====== ====== ====== ====== 
 At 1 April 2011 102,068 53,391 38,436 193,895 
   ====== ====== ====== ====== 
10. Intangible fixed assets    
      Software 
      Licenses 
 Cost:             £     
 Balance at 1 April 2011    40,941 
 Additions    7,190 
      ---------- 
 Balance at 31 March 2012    48,131 
      ---------- 

 Accumulated depreciation: 
 Balance at 1 April 2011    24,725 
 Charge for year    6,582 
      ---------- 
 Balance at 31 March 2012    31,307 
      ---------- 

 Net book value: 
 At 31 March 2012    16,824 
      ====== 
 At 1 April 2011    16,216 
      ====== 
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The Northern Ireland Community Relations Council 
   

Notes to the Financial Statements for Year Ended 31 March 2012 

(continued) 

 
11. Debtors: amounts due in less than one year   2012 2011 
     £    £    
 
 OFMDFM - Community Relations   774,802 693,716 
 OFMDFM - Victims & Survivors    19,142 - 
 Grant claw backs   553,388 670,883 
 SEUPB   517,451 293,533 
 IFI   214,247 317,286 
 Joseph Rowntree Foundation   53,598 - 
 Other debtors   19,209   - 
 Rental Income   4,637 7,590 
 Prepayments   64,251 33,110 
     ------------ ------------ 
     2,220,725 2,016,118 
     ======= ======= 
 Analysed between amounts due from:  
 Central government bodies    793,944 693,716
 Bodies external to government    1,426,781 1,322,402
     ------------ ------------ 
     2,220,725 2,016,118 
     ======= ======= 
 
 
12. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 
    2012 2011 
    £    £    
 Grants payable   399,144 653,946 
 Other creditors   338,723 317,416 
 Accruals & deferred income   887,197 921,959 
     ------------ ------------ 
     1,625,064 1,893,321 
     ======= ======= 
 Analysed between amounts owed to:  
 Bodies external to government    1,625,064 1,893,321 
     ======= ======= 
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The Northern Ireland Community Relations Council 
   

Notes to the Financial Statements for Year Ended 31 March 2012 

(continued) 
       
13. Notes to the cash flow statement                                 2012              2011 
     £      £      
 Reconciliation of net incoming resources to net cash 
 inflow from operating activities: 
 
 Net incoming resources   169,411 577,880 
 Depreciation charge   56,149 52,823 
 Increase in debtors   (204,607) (377,211) 
 (Decrease)/ increase in creditors   (268,257) 655,500 
 Investment income   (2,639) (1,250) 
 Movement in pension scheme deficit: 
 - Current service cost 310,000 284,000 
 - Employer pension contributions (298,000) (250,000) 
  - Net return on pension scheme assets; 
   Interest cost   243,000 275,000 
   Expected Return on Employer Assets   (284,000) (236,000) 
 Past service cost   - (578,000) 
   ------------ ------------- 

    Net cash (ouflow)/inflow from operating activities   (278,943) 402,742 
     ====== ====== 
 
14. Net incoming resources is stated after charging 
 Depreciation of tangible fixed assets   49,567 47,037 
 Depreciation of intangible fixed assets   6,582 5,788 
 Auditors' remuneration   20,000 14,000 
     ====== ====== 
 
15. Fund balances   2012 2011 
     £    £    
 Opening balance   679,208 (1,255,672) 
 Net movement in funds    (246,589) 1,934,880 
     -----------   ----------- 
 Closing balance   432,619 679,208 
     ====== ====== 

Any positive funds above must be spent on direct charitable expenditure and associated 
administration and overhead costs. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 38

4483 CRC Annual Report_Layout 1  13/11/2012  19:45  Page 38



The Northern Ireland Community Relations Council 
   

Notes to the Financial Statements for Year Ended 31 March 2012 

(continued) 
  
 
16. Financial Instruments  

Financial Instruments: FRS 25, 26 & 29 - Disclosures require evaluation of the 
significance of financial instruments for the Northern Ireland Community Relations 
Council financial position and performance, the nature and extent of risks arising from 
financial instruments which the Northern Ireland Community Relations Council is 
exposed to during the period and at the reporting date, and how the Northern Ireland 
Community Relations Council manages those risks. As a result of the non-trading nature 
of its activities and the way in which the Northern Ireland Community Relations Council 
is financed, the Northern Ireland Community Relations Council is not exposed to the 
degree of financial risk faced by business entities. The carrying value of trade and other 
debtors, cash at bank and trade creditors and accruals as disclosed in the notes to the 
accounts, approximates to fair value because of their short maturities. No other 
disclosures are relevant to the Northern Ireland Community Relations Council’s 
activities.   
 
 

17. Commitments under operating leases 

At 31 March 2012 the company had annual commitments under non-cancellable 
operating leases expiring as follows: 
 
  Fixtures  Fixtures  
  & Fittings & Fittings Property Property 
  2012 2011 2012 2011 
  £     £     £     £     
Within one year - 1,374 35,200 35,200 
Greater than one year less than five 2,132 2,748 8,800 8,800 
  --------- -------- --------- --------- 
  2,132 4,122 44,000 44,000 
  ===== ==== ===== ===== 
 
CRC has a pending contract for up to 3 years from 1 April 2011 with CBRE to continue 
renting premises at Glendinning House, Murray Street, Belfast.  At the time of signing, 
the final contractual negotiations have not been completed. 
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The Northern Ireland Community Relations Council 
   

Notes to the Financial Statements for Year Ended 31 March 2012 

(continued) 
 
18. Commitments under Defined Benefit Pension Scheme  

The assets of the pension scheme are held separately from those of the Community 
Relations Council and are administered by NILGOSC. The pension cost is determined on 
the advice of independent qualified actuaries. A full actuarial valuation was carried out at 
31st March 2012.  
 
The scheme is funded and the employer contributions were 18% for the year ended 31st 
March 2012. From 1st April 2012 employer contributions rose to 19% of pensionable pay. 
The employee’s contributions vary between 5.5% and 7.5% of pensionable pay.  
As required by FRS17, the defined benefit liabilities have been measured using the 
projected unit method. The tables below state the FRS17 actuarial assumptions upon 
which the valuation of the scheme was based. 
 
 

 

Financial Assumptions 31 Mar 2012 
% 

31 Mar 2011 
% 

31 Mar 2010 
% 

Rate of increase in salaries 4.8% 5.1% 5.3% 
Rate of increase of pensions 2.5% 2.8% 3.8% 
Rate of inflation 2.5% 2.8% 3.8% 
Discount rate 4.8% 5.5% 5.5% 
 
 

   

Scheme asset value 31 Mar 2012 
£’000 

31 Mar 2011 
£’000 

31 Mar 2010 
£’000 

Equities 3,182 3,022 2,393 
Bonds 602 557 435 
Property 344 239 186 
Cash 172 159 93 
 --------- -------- -------- 
Total 
Present value of scheme liabilities 

4,300 
(4,973) 

3,977 
(4,263) 

3,107 
(5,255) 

 -------- --------- --------- 
Net Pension Assets (673) (286) (2,148) 
 ===== ===== ===== 
Expectation of  
return on scheme assets 

 
31 Mar 2012 

 
31 Mar 2011 

 
31 Mar 2010 

Equities 6.2% 7.5% 7.8% 
Bonds 4.1% 4.9% 5.0% 
Property 4.4% 5.5% 5.8% 
Cash 3.5% 4.6% 4.8% 
 --------- -------- -------- 
Total 5.7% 6.9% 7.2% 
 ===== ===== ===== 
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The Northern Ireland Community Relations Council 
   

Notes to the Financial Statements for Year Ended 31 March 2012 

(continued) 
 
 
18. Commitments under Defined Benefit Pension Scheme (continued) 

 
Analysis of Amount Charged to Statement of 
Financial Activities 
 

Year to 31 
Mar 2012 

£’000 

Year to 31 
Mar 2011 

£’000 
Current service cost 310 284 
Interest cost on scheme liabilities 243 275 
Expected Return on Assets in the scheme (284) (236) 
Past service cost/(gain) - (578) 
 ------- ------- 
Net amount charged to Statement of Financial 
Activities 

269 
==== 

(255) 
==== 

 
 

Amount charged to Statement of Financial 
Activities 
 

Year to 31 
Mar 2012 

£’000 

Year to 31 
Mar 2011 

£’000 
Actual (losses)/gains  (416) 1,357 
 --------- -------- 
Actuarial (losses)/gains recognised on SOFA  (416) 1,357 
 ===== ==== 
 

Movement in Deficit during the year 
 

Year to 31 
Mar 2012 

£’000 

Year to 31 
Mar 2011 

£’000 
Deficit at the beginning of the year (286) (2,148) 
Current service costs (310) (284) 
Employer contributions 298 250 
Net return on assets 41 (39) 
Actuarial (losses)/gains (416) 1,357 
Past service gains - 578 
 -------- ------- 
Deficit at the end of the year (673) (286) 
 ==== ==== 
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The Northern Ireland Community Relations Council 
   

Notes to the Financial Statements for Year Ended 31 March 2012 

(continued) 
19. Related party transactions   

 
During the year the Northern Ireland Community Relations Council has had various 
material transactions with the Community Relations Unit of OFMDFM which is regarded 
as a related party.  

 
Directors’ of the Company also carry out various roles within organisations which receive 
financial assistance from the Northern Ireland Community Relations Council. The 
Directors’ disclose these interests on an annual basis by submitting ‘Declaration of 
Interests’ returns. Directors’ are not involved in funding decisions for organisations in 
which they have declared an interest.  

 
During the year, the following payments (inclusive of VAT where applicable and 
aggregate value in excess of £1k) were made to organisations related to Board members:  

 
 

• James Deery is an employee of Ashton Community Trust which received £456,889 
under the Victims Development schemes.  
 

• Hazel Francey is an employee of Belfast City Council who jointly match fund 
organisations with the Northern Ireland Community Relations Council.  
 

• Kathleen Hanlon is a Board Member of the Belfast Interface Project which received 
£64,155 under the Core Funding scheme.  

 
• Kathleen Hanlon is the Chief Executive Officer of Ballynafeigh Community 

Development Association which received £41,136 under Core Funding and CRCD 
schemes.  
 

• Anthony McCusker received £18,000 from the Northern Ireland Community Relations 
Council in his role as Chairperson of the organisation.  

 
• Anthony Kennedy is a member of The John Hewitt Society which received £5,000 

under the CRCD scheme.  
 

• Sylvia Gordon is an employee of Groundwork NI which received £34,463 under the 
Core Funding support, CRCD and Pathfinder schemes. 
 

• Sylvia Gordon is a member of the North Belfast Community Development and 
Transition Group which received £9,183 under the Pathfinder and CRCD Schemes. 
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The Northern Ireland Community Relations Council 
   

Notes to the Financial Statements for Year Ended 31 March 2012 

(continued) 
19. Related party transactions (continued) 

 
• Jonathan Byrne is a Research Associate with The Institute of Conflict Research which 

has received £31,701 under the Core Funding scheme and a Research Grant of £6,250. 
 

• Stella McDermot is employed by The Heritage Lottery Fund with which CRC work 
on issues relating to Commemorations 
 

• David Russell is employed by the Northern Ireland Human Rights Commission with 
which CRC has a Memorandum of Understanding. 
 

• Billy Gamble was appointed to the Board of International Fund for Ireland on 1 March 
2012.  CRC administer the Community Bridges and Peace Walls Programmes on 
behalf of the International Fund for Ireland. 
 
 

20. Post balance sheet events 
 
 There have been no significant events since the year end, which affect the accounts. 
 
21. Financial Regularity  
 

During the year ended 31 March 2012 one other investigation reported in last year’s 
accounts concluded with no financial implications for Community Relations Council. At 
the end of the financial year ended 31 March 2012, there is one ongoing investigation 
carried forward from last year into a group which has received funding from CRC.  The 
investigation is being carried out in partnership with the OFMDFM and relates to possible 
irregularities within the funded group.  A formal request for claw back of funding has 
been made to the Chair of the group.   
During the year ended 31 March 2012 CRC was asked by other funders to provide 
information in relation to two other investigations into a group which had, in previous 
years, received funding from CRC.  The investigations are being led by two different 
government Departments and relate to potential double funding in one of the cases and 
potential irregularities in the other.  

 
 
22. Comparatives    
 

Within these financial statements some comparatives have been restated for minor 
presentational purposes.  
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The Northern Ireland Community Relations Council 
   

Notes to the Financial Statements for Year Ended 31 March 2012 

(continued) 
 

23.  Additional Disclosures to comply with FReM 
 

FReM requires non-departmental public bodies to regard grant in aid received as 
contributions from controlling parties giving rise to a financial interest in the residual 
interest of the body, and hence accounted for as financing, i.e. by crediting them to the 
income and expenditure reserve. 

 
If the Northern Ireland Community Relations Council were to comply with FReM, the 
following would be the effect of this compliance. 

     
      

    Year ended Year ended 
    31 March 31 March
    2012 2011
    £ £ 
 
Income 
SEUPB   241,172 517,293 
International fund for Ireland    451,157 173,073 
Joseph Rowntree Charitable Trust    47,484 35,616 
Other operating income    19,590 16,409 
    ------------- -------------
    759,403 742,391 
 
Expenditure 
Grants paid    8,565,427 7,329,798 
Support costs   2,627,728 2,122,633 
Administration and management    277,641 166,243 
    ------------- ------------- 
    11,470,796 9,618,674 
 
Net deficit for the year    (10,711,393) (8,876,283) 
 

 Actuarial (loss)/gain on market value of the defined  
benefit scheme’s assets and liabilities   (416,000) 1,357,000 
    --------------- ---------------
Amount transferred to General Fund    (11,127,393) (7,519,283) 
    ========= ======== 
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The Northern Ireland Community Relations Council 
   

Notes to the Financial Statements for Year Ended 31 March 2012 

(continued) 
 
23.  Additional Disclosures to comply with FReM (continued) 
 
 
 General Fund note prepared under FReM: 

     Year ended Year ended 
     31 March 31 March
     2012 2011
     £ £ 
 
    
Balance at 1 April 2011   701,187 (1,974,736) 
Grant in Aid received in year   10,586,701 10,195,206 
Net operating cost for year   (11,127,393) (7,519,283) 
     ------------- ------------- 
Balance at 31 March 2012   160,495 701,187 

    ======== ======== 
 

The FReM requires grant in aid to be reflected in the accounts on a cash basis. Grant in aid 
received in the note above reflects the cash that was received in the financial year.  
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Community Relations Council 
Performance Review11-12 

COMMUNITY RELATIONS COUNCIL 
PERFORMANCE REVIEW 
STATUS: Final  
 
Strategic Aims: 

1. Delivering our role as the regional body for community relations as laid down in current public 
policy. 

2. Promoting sustained trust and interdependence by challenging and supporting all sections of our 
society to work together.  

3. Communicating a vision of a shared society 
4. Extending the work of the Council to reflect the developing cultural diversity of our community 
5. Ensuring that the legacy of violence and conflict is actively addressed, underpinning movement 

towards a peaceful future for all 
6. Maintaining an organisation that is fit for purpose delivering services that are effective, efficient 

and in line with best practice 
 
The Performance of the organisation was as follows:- 
                                                                                                      

ACTIONS PERFORMANCE 
MEASURE   

TIMING AND 
REPORTING 

 PERFORMANCE REVIEW  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1.1 Develop an 
advocacy strategy 
to maximise the 
community 
relations element of 
government 
spending across all 
departments.  
 
 

Evidence of a programme 
of work based on our 
challenge function to 
Government departments 
as laid out in current 
government policy and an 
advocacy strategy to 
maximise the community 
relations element of 
government spending 
across all departments. 

 

 
Programme of work 
March 2012-  
Qrtrly reporting 
 
Advocacy Strategy 
by June 2011 

•�Advocacy plan and thematic priority 
areas were agreed by Council and an 
associated plan developed, implemented 
and progress reviewed by Management 
Group (fortnightly) and Policy and 
Communications Committee (bi-
monthly). Details of the outputs are 
recorded throughout this review.  

•�Plan for 12-13 approved by Council in Feb 
12.  

  
 
 
 
 

1.2  Implement our 
role with District 
Councils as laid 
out in A Shared 
Future. 
 

Programme of work 
delivered in line with the 
arrangements and 
resources to implement 
our role with District 
Councils as laid out in 
current government 
policy 

Qtrly reporting 
 
EU Programme- 
qtrly reporting 

•�A full programme of work was delivered 
by the CRC District Council Officer 
based in OFMDFM which included 
delivery of the annual round of funding; 
support to District Councils in the 
development and delivery of GR plans; 
quarterly monitoring of implementation 
and expenditure; annual conference; and 
preparation for next year’s scheme. 

 
•�CRC’s other programme areas also 

maintained regular liaison with District 
Council Good Relations Officers 
including co-ordination on CRC CR/CD 
grants and regular liaison on policy issues 
(e.g. presentation to Good Relations 
Officer conference on phase two of 
CRC/RCN’s Beyond Belfast project) 

 
•�The CRC/Pobal Consortium maintained 
provision of support to District Councils 
and SEUPB in delivery of Peace III, 1.1  
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Community Relations Council 
Performance Review11-12 

1.3. Develop our 
training strategy.  
Secure, if 
necessary, other 
resources to carry 
out our training 
strategy.  
 

Establishment of 
arrangements and 
resources to implement 
our role in relation to 
training as laid out in 
current government 
policy  

March 2012 In 11/12 this objective was met through the 
following activity - 
•�regular meetings (themed and 
geographical) with a wide range of 
practitioners 

•�continued development support provided 
to grant recipients across all funding 
programmes 
 

 

1.4.  Develop our 
research strategy.  
  

Evidence of a programme 
of research work linked to 
the overall strategy of the 
CRC including 3 CRC 
sponsored contributions 
to the body of research on 
community relations 

March 2012 
 
Qrtly reporting 

•�The following research was 
commissioned by CRC to inform policy 
positions -  
�� Beyond Belfast mapping 

exercise  
�� Shared Housing indicators initial 

scoping  
�� Interfaces and community engagement  
�� Interfaces and youth engagement   

 
•�2 issues of CRC’s research journal 
(Shared Space) published 

•�CR/CD Research Scheme supported 3 
research awards  

•�In collaboration with the Joseph 
Rowntree Charitable Trust and the Joseph 
Rowntree Foundation, CRC published the 
first NI Peace Monitor 

1.5. Improve and 
expand the 
organisation’s 
capacity to 
evaluate 
community 
relations work. 
 

Evidence of a programme 
of evaluation of 
community relations 
work.  

Evidenced qrtrly and 
in full by March 
2012 

During 11/12 the following evaluation 
work was undertaken and delivered -  

•�15 Reviews of Core Funded Groups 
completed 

•�27 Progress Reports completed 
•�CRC interagency Evaluation Panel met 5 

times 
•�All V+S groups funded under SSF make 
quarterly monitoring returns (Progress 
Reports).  All quarterly reports for 2011-
12 received and annual beneficiaries 
return filed by all groups. 

•�V+S groups supported under DGS groups 
had to supply end of project reports for all 
funded work by 31st March.   

 

 
 
 
 
 

    

1.6. Implement the 
Councils overarching 
strategy and role in 
funding and related 
processes.  

 

•�Evidence of delivery of 
our role as a funding 
body in all grant 
schemes 

•�Evidence of  a regional 
infrastructure of 
community relations 
work creating of  high 
quality generated  

•�March 2012- 
NIAO 

•�Annual reports- 
Dec 2011 

•�Qrtrly reporting 
•�March 2012 

•�Annual Report published with evidence 
of full programme of work, including list 
of grants awarded  

•�All Publications grants had a regional 
impact 

•�36% of CR/CD Grants awarded to 
projects outside of Belfast and Derry 

•�81% of Core Funding Grants awarded to 
projects outside of Belfast and Derry 
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1.7.  implement our 
role in monitoring 
the state of 
community 
relations   
 
 

Evidence of a programme 
of work in relation to our 
role in monitoring the 
state of community 
relations as laid out in  
current government 
policy 

Completed March 
2012 
Reports to Board 
meetings. 

CRC monitored Assembly business for 
Good Relations issues (including chamber 
business, committee items, Written & Oral 
Questions & Answers). CRC also 
responded to the following government 
consultations reviewing for GR content and 
reviewed the Good Relations content of the 
finalised policy. 

 
•�DEL, Proposed discontinuance of 
Stranmillis College and its proposed 
merger with Queen’s University Belfast, 

•�Arts Council , EQIA Intercultural 
Strategy,  

•�NIHE, Establishment of a Belfast city 
centre waiting list,  

•�Strategic Investment Board, Draft 
Equality Scheme,  

•�Northern Ireland Assembly, Youth 
Assembly Team,  

•�Children and Young People’s Strategic 
Partnership, Northern Ireland Children 
and Young People's Plan 2011-2014 

•�Commission on a Bill of Rights, UK Bill 
of Rights 

•�OFMDFM, Social Investment Fund 
 
•�OFMDFM, Draft programme for 
Government 2011-15 

  
•�DSD, Queen’s Quay Draft Masterplan 
 
•�Publication of first Peace Monitoring 

Report in February 2012 
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through funding and 
development  

•�Evidence of  a flexible 
programme of funding 
capable of meeting long 
term  and  immediate 
needs 

•�25% of CRC grants in 
2011-2012 to be 
awarded to projects 
outside of Belfast and 
Derry. 

 

•�38% of Pathfinder Grants  awarded to 
projects outside of Belfast and Derry 

•�52% (25 of 48) V+S SSF awards made 
were for work carried out outside of 
Belfast and Derry.  Many of the groups 
based in Belfast and Derry also have 
successful outreach programmes and offer 
their services elsewhere. 

•�78% (39 of 50) V+S DGS awards made 
were for work carried out outside of 
Belfast and Derry.  

•�52% of CBP Grants were awarded to 
groups outside Belfast and Derry 

•�to projects outside of Belfast and Derry   
•�12.5%(1 out of 8) of Peace III new grant 

aid for this year has been awarded to 
projects outside of Belfast and Derry.  
This does not include grants that have a 
regional spread. 
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•�Launch seminar in March with key 
policy-makers in attendance 

 
•�Widespread media coverage of the 

report’s findings 
 
•�Subsequent presentations and discussions 

with wide range of bodies, 
including  presentation to OFMFM 
Committee at Stormont  

In collaboration with the Joseph Rowntree 
Charitable Trust and the Joseph Rowntree 
Foundation, CRC published the first NI 
Peace Monitor which included information 
on the state of community relations in 
11/12. 

 2.1.  Promote 
sustained trust 
and good inter-
community 
relations across all 
public policy at the 
regional and local 
level.  These will 
include 
engagement with 
the following 
strategic areas – 
• Sectarian violence 
 

Evidence of a programme 
focussed on sectarian 
violence that promotes 
sustained trust and good 
inter-community relations 
across all public policy 
which challenges and 
supports all sections of 
our society to work 
together.    

  
 

Op Plan –  
Mar 2011 
 
Annual report  Dec 
2011 
 
Reports to board and 
qrtrly monitoring 

CRC was involved in the following 
interagency initiatives and reported on 
progress to all meetings of  the Board of 
CRC  
•�Interface Working Group 
•�Beyond Belfast Project 
•�Hazelwood Communty Partners 
•�Lurgan town Project 
•�Rural Community Network – Beyond 
Belfast project 

•�Hazelwood Community Partnership 
•�Interface Community Partners Forum 
•�DOJ Community Safety review 
•�North Belfast Ministerial Panel 
•�NIHE Inter Community Partners  
•�RDC BRIC advisory Group  
•�OFMDFM Flags Protocol Group  
CRC’s  Core Funding Scheme worked with 
16 groups dealing with sectarian violence in 
areas of high conflict. 

-� 174 Trust 
-� Ballynafeigh Community 

Development Association 
-� Belfast Interface Project 
-� Community Relations Forum 
-� Groundwork 
-� Public Acheivement 
-� REACT  
-� The Junction/Holywell Trust 
-� Interaction Belfast 
-� Intercomm 
-� Kilcranny House 
-� Linc Resource Centre 
-� Mediation NI 
-� North Belfast Interface Network 
-� PAKT (Lurgan) 
-� Peace and Reconciliation Group 
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The Community Bridges Programme 
support for the following groups under this 
theme – 

•� 174 Trust 
•� 18/25 Project 
•� CFNI 
•� Fellowship of Messines 
•� Finaghy Crossroads Group 
•� Forthspring 
•� Kilcranny House 
•� Linc Resource Centre 
•� Link Family & Community Centre 
•� Peace Players International 
•� Short Strand Community Forum 
•� St Columb’s Park House 
•� Suffolk/Lenadoon Interface Group 
•� Terry Enright Foundation 
•� Youthcom 
•� Sliabh Beag Partnership Meetings 

• Cultural diversity 
 

Evidence of a programme 
focussed on cultural 
diversity that promotes 
sustained trust and good 
inter-community relations 
across all public policy 
which challenges and 
supports all sections of 
our society to work 
together.   

 

Op Plan – Mar 2011 
 
Annual report  Dec 
2011 
 
Reports to board and 
qrtrly monitoring 

CRC completed the following work under the 
theme of cultural diversity - 
•�Ongoing engagement with minority ethnic 

and faith communities through networking 
events (2), mentoring sessions (9) 

•�Member Racial Equality Panel 
•�Submission to revision of Racial Equality 
Strategy via Racial Equality Forum  

•�Member Migrant Workers Thematic Sub 
Group (DEL) 

•�Input into NISRA Review of the Minority 
Ethnic Development Fund 

•�Member Northern Ireland Strategic 
Migration Partnership and social cohesion 
and integration subgroup 

•�Member Belfast City Council Thematic 
Hate Crime Sub Group Tension Monitoring 

•�Member Great Village Good Relations 
Working Group 

•�South Belfast Round Table on Racism  
•�Member Unite Against Hate  
•�Contributed to steering of Institute of 

Conflict Research Evaluation and Hate 
Crime Projects 

•�Member of Annadale Housing Think Tank 
and related engagement with Equality 
Commission on housing allocation and 
discrimination 

•�Engagement with the Roma Task group 
•�Delivery of Decade of Centenaries project 

with Heritage Lottery Fund (including the 
promotion and adoption of principles, 
development of materials for Decade Web 
portal – guidance, resources, links, case 
studies and up and coming events.  Also 
development of guidance for Funders of 
commeration projects. 
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•�Planning, organizing and launch of a 10 
week lecture series Remembering the 
Future 1912-22  in Ulster Museum and 
Stranmillis University College  

•�Input to workshops on Decade of 
Anniversaries (DofC)for District Council 
GR Programme and Peace III clusters 

•�Organise regular meetings on DofC with 
public bodies and stakeholders 

•�Engagement with OFMdFM and DCAL in 
relation to Principles and visioning 
potential of the DofC project 

•�Engagement with District Councils as  (8), 
SEUPB (2) on DofC 

•� 3 Media Grants awarded within assessment 
timescales on Interface (film) and diversity 
(film) and centenaries ( Irish Language 
Raidió ) 

•�CRC continued to be engaged in the Shared 
future subgroup established by the Rural 
Community Network  

•�CRC responded to the Arts Council, EQIA 
Intercultural Strategy and is a member of 
the advisory group to the Intercultural Arts 
Fund. 

• Segregated   
  communities 
 

Evidence of a programme 
focussed on segregrated 
communities (including 
evidence of 
implementation of a 
programme of work 
focussing on community 
relations in North Belfast) 
that promotes sustained 
trust and good inter-
community relations 
across all public policy 
which challenges and 
supports all sections of 
our society to work 
together.   

 

Op Plan – Mar 2011 
 
Annual report  Dec 
2011 
 
Reports to board and 
qrtrly monitoring 

CRC completed the following work under the 
theme of segregated communities - 

 
•�Shared Housing roundtable and report 
•�Lurgan Town Project 
•�Shared Neighbourhood  Programme 
•�Greater Village Community Relations 
Group 

•�Skegoneill/ GlandoreCommon Purpose 
project 

•�Suffolk/Lenadoon Interface Group 
Advisory Panel 

•�Springfarm Shared Neighbourhood 
•�Rural Community Network – Beyond 
Belfast project and ASF sub group 

•�Hazelwood Community Partnership 
•�Whitewell Youth Providers Forum 
•�Interface Community Partners group 
•�Greater Village Community Relations 
Group 

•�South Belfast Roundtable 
•�NIHE Equality Steering Group 
•�North Belfast Ministerial Panel 
•�Engagement with Armagh City and District 

Council on the development of an enhanced 
local flags protocol 

•�Contracted with QUB for survey of local 
attitudes to flying of flags and their  
management in Armagh city pilot areas 

CRC’s  Core Funding scheme supports 8 
groups working in N Belfast - 

-� 174 Trust 
-� Belfast Interface Project 
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-� Groundwork 
-� Public Acheivement 
-� Interaction Belfast 
-� Intercomm 
-� Linc Resource Centre 
-� North Belfast Interface Network 

Community Bridges Programme supports the 
following projects under this theme – 
•�174 Trust 
•�Cliftonville Community Regeneration 
Forum 

•�18/25 Project 
•�CFNI 
•�Fellowship of Messines 
•�Finaghy Crossroads Group 
•�Forthspring Inter-community Group 
•�Groundwork 
•�Interaction 
•�Kilcranny House 
•�Linc Resource Centre 
•�Link Family & Community Centre 
•�North Belfast Community Development & 
Transition Group 

Page 54

• NBIN 
• Skegoneill/Glandore Common Purpose 
• Arts for All 
• Whitecity/Greencastle group 
• Peace Players International 
• Short Strand Community Forum/Bridge 

Community Association 
• St Columb’s Park House 
• Suffolk/Lenadoon Interface Group 
• Terry Enright Foundation 
• Newtowncunningham/Glebeside/  

Carnlough 
• Youthcom 
• An Teach Ban 
• Ardomanagh Family and Community 
Group 

• Caw/Lettershandoney 
• CRIS 
• NICHS 
• New Border Generation 
• Skegoneill/Glandore Common purpose 
• Ballynafeigh Community Dev Association 
• Arts for All 
• Ballymoney Community Resource Centre 
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• Education 
 

Evidence of a programme 
focussed on education 
that promotes sustained 
trust and good inter-
community relations 
across all public policy 
which challenges and 
supports all sections of 
our society to work 
together.   

Op Plan – Mar 2011 
 
Annual report  Dec 
2011 
 
Reports to board and 
qrtrly monitoring 

CRC participated in Department of Education 
(DE) stakeholders’ event and met with senior 
DE officials to discuss the CRED policy and   
provided advice to the Department in relation 
to the Terms of Reference for the new Shared 
Education Advisory Group.   
CRC is establishing a Shared Education 
advisory Group to underpin the range of work 
that promotes models of shared education 

 
Community Bridges Programme supported the 
following projects – 

       
•�Community Relations in Scools 
•�Kilcranny House 
•�Peace Players International 
•�Sesame Workshop 
•�SELB Lurgan Youth Providers Forum 
•�Springfarm 
•�Ballynafeigh Community Development 
Association 

•�Linc Resource Centre 
•�NI Alternatives PACT Project  

 

• Poverty 
 

Evidence of a programme 
focussed on poverty (with 
evidence that at least 15% 
of CRC grants to go to 
groups in disadvantaged 
areas during 2011-2012) 
that promotes sustained 
trust and good inter-
community relations across 
all public policy which 
challenges and supports all 
sections of our society to 
work together.   

 

Op Plan – Mar 
2011 
 
Annual report  Dec 
2011 
 
Reports to board 
and qrtrly 
monitoring 

In relation to the issue of poverty, CRC 
responded to the following consultations in 11-
12 - 
•�Children and Young People’s Strategic 

Partnership, Northern Ireland Children and 
Young People's Plan 2011-2014 

•�OFMDFM, Social Investment Fund, 

•�OFMDFM, Draft programme for 
Government 2011-15 

The issue of poverty was also highlighted in a 
presentation made on the draft Cohesion 
Sharing and Integration Strategy to OFMDFM 
Committee.  

•�53% of CRC Core Funded Groups are 
working in areas of high disadvantage during 
11/12 (14 out of 26) 

•�48% of CR/CD Grants went to areas of 
disadvantage (94/194) 

 
 
 
 

The EU Peace III Programme funds 10 
projects in the area. These are: 

-� Ashton Centre 
-� LINC Resource Centre 
-� New Life Counselling 
-� WAVE 
-� Youthlink 
-� Youth Action 
-� Diversity Challenges 
-� Corrymeela Community 
-� Falls Community Council 
-� Seaview 
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•�100% of Pathfinder Funding went to areas of 
disadvantage  

•�98% of CBP grants were awarded to groups 
working in disadvantaged areas(49 out of 50) 

•�75% of EU Peace III grants went to projects 
specifically working in disadvantaged areas.  
(8 grant awarded within the period 2011/12) 

• Young People 
 

Evidence of a programme 
focussed on young people 
that promotes sustained 
trust and good inter-
community relations across 
all public policy which 
challenges and supports all 
sections of our society to 
work together.   

 

Op Plan – Mar 
2011 
 
Annual report  Dec 
2011 
 
Reports to board 
and qrtrly 
monitoring 

In relation to the community relations issues 
affecting young people, CRC participated in  – 
•�Consultation  on “Beyond Belfast – Young 
people in rural and border communities” 

•�Youth issues in Lurgan area – in 
collaboration  with Southern Education and 
Library Board and Craigavon Borough 
Council 

•�Breaking Barriers Through Youth Work 
policy conference in partnership with 
Youthnet (CR week) 

•�Youth Survey report for Hazelwood 
Community Partnership 

•�Liaised regularly with DE, OFMDFM and 
other stakeholders on issues relating to Youth 
diversionary activity.   

•�Advocacy to North Belfast Ministerial Panel 
on changes and interventions required.   

 
CRC responded to - 
•�Children and Young People’s Strategic 

Partnership, Northern Ireland Children and 
Young People's Plan 2011-2014  

•�Engagement with Northern Ireland 
Assembly, Youth Assembly Team  

Examples of groups supported by the 
Community Bridges Programme under this 
theme during 11/12 included – 
•�18/25 Project 
•�Finaghy Crossroads Group 
•�Donegal Youth Service 
•�Kilcranny House 
•�Link Family & Community Centre 
•�Peace Players International 
•�Public Achievement 
•�Sesame Productions 
•�Short Strand Community Forum 
•�Sliabh Beag Cross Border Partnership 
•�St Columb’s Park House 
•�Suffolk/Lenadoon Interface Group 
•�Terry Enright Foundation 
•�Youthcom 
•�An Teach Ban 
•�New Border Generation 
•�Caw/ Lettershandoney 
•�NI Alternatives 
•�SELB Lurgan Youth Providers 
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•�Sesame Workshop 
•�Youth Initiatives 
•�Youthcom 
•�Youthlink NI 

 
 

2.2.  Establish our 
strategy for 
advocacy and 
challenge.  
 

Evidence of our strategy for 
advocacy and challenge. 
 
Established memorandum 
of understanding between 
CRC and the Equality 
Commission.  
 
Established memorandum 
of understanding between 
CRC and the Human Rights 
Commission. 

Advocacy Strategy 
agreed  
March 2011 
 
 
March 2012 

•�Advocacy strategy and key priorities were 
agreed by Council and implemented.  
Revised strategy for 12-13 was agreed in Feb 
2012  

•�Programme of briefings delivered (including 
students and visiting lecturers) 

•�Regular Meetings with Departments (DOJ, 
DSD, DCAL, OFMDFM, DRD, DE) 

•�Liaison with Assembly Committees, 
OFMDFM & DRD  

•�Meetings with a number of political parties, 
Ministers, Assembly Committees, Special 
Advisors and others to give an update on key 
CR issues contained within CRC’s CSI 
responses and Beyond Belfast report. 

•�5  conferences held (Live Issues, Policy, 
Victims and Survivors, EU and CBP)  

•�Attendance at external consultation events to 
raise GR issues. 

•�Co-ordinated and facilitated the Interface 
Working Group  

•�Memorandum of Understanding in place with 
the Human Rights Commission 

•�Memorandum in place with the Equality 
Commission for NI 

•�Continued co-ordination of the Good 
Relations Forum with the Equality 
Commission  

•�Disseminated consultation/publications 
responses to appropriate Assembly structures  

•�Internal communication of weekly Assembly 
business.  

 
 
 

2.3.  Review the 
structural and 
funding 
arrangements that 
underpin the 
Council’s ability to 
provide 
independent 
advocacy and 
challenge 
 

Evidence of review of 
structural and funding 
arrangements that underpin 
the Council’s ability to 
provide independent 
advocacy and challenge 

Review completed 
Dec 2011 

•�Annual advocacy strategy in place and 
reviewed regularly by the Policy and 
Communications Committee 

•�Independent funding secured to produce the 
annual Peace Monitor with guidance from an 
independent steering committee. 

 

2.4.  Ensure that 
the Good 
Relations Panel is 
challenged to be an 
effective advocate 
to the 
establishment of 
good community 
relations. 

Evidence that the Good 
Relations Panel is 
challenged by CRC to be an 
effective advocate to the 
establishment of good 
community relations. 

Ongoing evidence 
 
Annual report  Dec 
2011 
 
Reports to board 
and qrtrly 
monitoring 

The OFMDFM Good Relations Panel has not 
met during 11/12.  In its absence CRC has 
continued to engage with relevant Assembly 
Committees and other Department’s structures 
to present relevant Good Relations and 
Community Relations information (see other 
relevant sections of this report).   
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2.5.  Develop, 
support and 
disseminate best 
practice 
community 
relations models.  
 
 
 

Evidence of development, 
support and dissemination 
of best practice 
community relations 
models. 

Op Plan – Mar 
2011 
 
Annual report  Dec 
2011 
 
Reports to board 
and qrtrly 
monitoring 

To support and disseminate best practice 
models of community relations, the CRC 
undertook the following in 11/12 - 
•�Publication of magazine (Funding and 
Development)  with 9 project case studies 

•�Website and monthly E-News dissemination 
of activities of CR projects   

•�Annual Report published  
•�Worked with Department of Justice to further 
develop co-ordination structures and 
establish best practice for work on interfaces 

•�Best practice models were also used to 
illustrate policy consultation responses where 
possible. 

•�Work continued to support best practice 
models with Hazelwood Community 
partnership  

•�Inclusion of case studies in webpage 
promoting best practice in the context of the 
Decade of Centenaries 

•�EU Programme (Peace III) held 9 workshops 
for Council led Partnerships including 
resource allocation, partner delivery, cross 
border working and regional projects 
networking.  

 

3.1. Promote a 
vision for good 
community 
relations that is 
widely shared 
among 
stakeholders  

Evidence of promotion a 
vision for good 
community relations that 
is widely shared among 
stakeholders including 
evidence that 85% of all 
funded groups in 2011-12 
have achieved in agreed 
timescales project plans 
that contribute to a vision 
of a shared society. 
3 conferences throughout 
2010-2011 aimed at 

Op Plan – Mar 
2011 
 
Annual report  Dec 
2011 
 
Reports to board 
and qrtrly 
monitoring 
 
Completed 2012 

The following is evidence of CRC’s work to 
promote a vision for good community relations 
in 11/12 - 

•� 65 press releases issued 
•�925 media articles or broadcasts on CR 

issues 
•�Website updated weekly, 304 website news 

items placed 
•�Over 4000 tweets posted on Twitter 
•�Target number of users exceeded with 

202,239 webpage user visits, 681 Facebook 
followers (‘likes’), many resending through 
own networks, 1314 followers on Twitter, 

 

developing a shared vision 
of reconciliation, tolerance 
and trust.  
A CRC web-site updated 
weekly with current topical 
material that ensures over 
275,000 users per year 

many re-tweeting to own extensive networks. 
•�Ratified policy responses published on CRC 

website, and disseminated on CRC E-news 
bulletion with relevant quick web links. 

•�100% of Core Funded Groups completed 
progress Reports 

•�95% of CR/CD Projects completed project 
plans as evidenced by evaluation returns 

•�96% of Pathfinder Projects completed project 
plans as evidenced by evaluation returns. 

•�100% of EU Peace III Programme funded 
projects have had communication plans and 
action plans approved.    

•�3 conferences held (Live Issues Conference 
took place on 26th March 2012, Policy 
conference during CR week, and Victims 
conference in December to mark those 
volunteer befrienders and co-ordinators who 
successfully completed the ‘Gift of Time’ 
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volunteer befriending capacity building 
training programme). 

•�Full programme of CBP IFI PR Events 
•�CBP Annual Conference (Nov 11) 

 
3.2. Establish the 
role and resources 
for CRC to 
communicate key 
public messages 
on community 
relations. 
 

Establishment of the role 
and resources for CRC to 
communicate key public 
messages on community 
relations. 

March 2012 New CRC Communications sub-committee 
established in 11/12 to maximise impact by 
–  
•�refining strategy,  
•�regularly reviewing resources  and 
•�overseeing  implementation  
During 11/12 the Communications sub-group 
reports to a committee of the Council and has 
overseen the training of council members in 
communication skills. 

 

3.3. Establish a 
CRC 
communications 
strategy to enable 
us to fulfil our role 
as independent 
advocate on 
community 
relations 
 
  

Establishment of a CRC 
communications strategy to 
enable us to fulfil our role 
as independent advocate 
on community relations 
Evidence of promulgation 
of key messages. 

March 2012 
 
Op Plan – Mar 
2011 
 
Annual report  Dec 
2011 
 
Reports to board 
and qrtrly 
monitoring 

•�Communications strategy now formally 
linked to Advocacy Plan and regularly 
reviewed 

•�In 11/12 CRC co-ordinated CR Week (held 
in May 2011) with over 150 events across NI 
organised by voluntary and community 
groups  and public sector bodies,  achieving 
extensive media coverage and public profile 

 

4.1. Develop a 
strategy for  
inter-cultural 
work by :- 
* Consulting with 
all those who are 
affected by the 
strategy and our 
role   

Consultation with all those 
who are affected by the 
strategy and our role   

 

Consultation part 
of CSI review 

•�CRC engaged fully with CSI review and 
produced a comprehensive response, which 
included consideration of cultural diversity 
issues. 

•�CRC engaged with a wide range of 
stakeholders in the preparation of its 
response.  

 

*Securing 
resources to 
underpin the 
strategy 

Secured resources to 
underpin the strategy 

Following CSI 
review 

Awaiting final CSI document from OFMDFM  

*Implementing 
and reviewing the 
first stage of the 
strategy  
 
 

Implementation and 
review of the first stage of 
the strategy 

Op Plan – Mar 
2011 
 
Annual report  Dec 
2011 
 
Reports to board 
and qrtrly 
monitoring 

During 11/12 the following inter-cultural work 
was undertaken -  
•�Engagement with minority ethnic and faith 

communities through networking events (2), 
mentoring sessions (9) 

•�Member Racial Equality Panel 
•�Submission to revision of Racial Equality 
Strategy via Racial Equality Forum  

•�Member Migrant Workers Thematic Sub 
Group (DEL) 

•�Input into NISRA Review of the Minority 
Ethnic Development Fund 

•�Member Northern Ireland Strategic 
Migration Partnership and social cohesion 
and integration subgroup 

•�Member Belfast City Council Thematic Hate 
Crime Sub Group Tension Monitoring  
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•�Member Greater Village Good Relations 
Working Group 

•�South Belfast Round Table on Racism  
•�Member Unite Against Hate  
•�Contributed to steering of Institute of 

Conflict Research Evaluation and Hate 
Crime Projects 

•�Annadale Housing Think Tank and related 
engagement with Equality Commission on 
housing allocation and discrimination 

•�Participation in Roma task group 
•�Delivery of Decade of Centenaries project 

with Heritage Lottery Fund (including the 
promotion and adoption of principles, 
development of materials for Decade Web 
portal – guidance, resources, links, case 
studies and up and coming events.  Also 
development of guidance for Funders of 
commeration projects. 

•�Planning, organizing and launch of a 10 week 
lecture series Remembering the Future 1912-
22  in Ulster Museum and Stranmillis 
University College  

•�Input to workshops on Decade of 
Anniversaries (DofC)for District Council GR 
Programme and Peace III clusters 

•�Organised regular meetings on DofC with 
public bodies and stakeholders 

•�Engagement with OFMdFM and DCAL in 
relation to Principles and visioning potential 
of the DofC project 

•�Engagement with District Councils  (8) and 
SEUPB (2) on DofC 

•� 3 Media Grants awarded within assessment 
timescales on Interface (film) and diversity 
(film) and centenaries ( Irish Language 
Raidió ) 

•�CRC continued to be engaged in the Shared 
future subgroup established by the Rural 
Community Network  

•�CRC responded to the Arts Council, EQIA 
Intercultural Strategy and is a member of the 
advisory group to the Intercultural Arts Fund. 

5.1. Develop a 
strategy for our 
role in dealing with 
the legacy of the 
conflict 
 
 
 

Strategy for our role in 
dealing with the legacy of 
the conflict in place and 
underpinning our work in 
this area 

Op Plan – Mar 
2011 
 
Annual report  Dec 
2011 
 
Reports to board 
and qrtrly 
monitoring 

During 11/12 CRC continued to deliver its role 
in dealing with the legacy of the conflict by - 
•�Supporting a range of victims and survivor 
groups dealing with HET, truth recovery 
processes and acknowledgement 
/commemorative and remembrance work 
through our Victims and Survivors funding 
streams (SSF/DGS). 

 
•�EU Programme (Peace III) continued to 

operate a 3-stranded approach to support 
organisations addressing: the legacy and 
memory of the conflict (Strand 1); the 
provision of supports and services for victims 
and survivors of the conflict (Strand 2); the 
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development and delivery of innovative 
projects engaging in wider peace-building 
and reconciliation work (Strand 3). 

•�An analysis of gaps in funding under the 
Peace III Theme 1.2 Open Call will be 
undertaken when all funding awards for this 
round have been completed. The Consortium 
(CRC and Pobal) will discuss this gap and 
options for future specific calls with the 
Managing Authority in 2012.  

 
•�Community Bridges Programme supported 

the following projects under this theme – 
-� CFNI 
-� Cliftonville Community Regeneration 

Forum 
-� IWIN 
-� Interaction Belfast 
-� Groundwork NI 
-� St Columb’s Park House 
-� NI Alternatives 
-� North Belfast Interface Network 
-� North Belfast Community Development 

and Transition Group 

5.2. Review our 
position and role in 
relation to work 
with Victims and 
Survivors 

Review of our position and 
role in relations to work 
with Victims and Survivors 
carried out and informing 
future role, if any, when the 
new service is established. 
 
Evidence of participation in 
the work of the 
Commission for Victims 
and Survivors (including 
the Victims Forum).  

 

Discussions with 
OFMDFM  
completed Sept 
2011 
 
New arrangements 
implemented  
March 2012 

CRC participated in a range of interagency  
structures organized by OFMDFM and the 
Victims Service in preparation for the transfer 
to the new service -   
•�2 members of staff involved in the 
development of a minimum standards 
document issued by the Commission for 
Victims and Survivors 

•�Programme Director on the Victims Forum 
(one of a number of organisational reps on 
the forum) 

•�Continued as IFB for Victims and Survivors 
funding (SSF & DGS) 

The new Victims and Survivors Service was 
formally established in April 2012 but the 
transfer of existing services from CRC and the 
Memorial Fund did not take place.  The CRC 
continues to participate in the planning 

 
 
 
 
 

discussions as follows -  

•�Participation in discussions with Department 
re. transfer of CRC staff to Victims Service. 

•�Regular meetings with the Victims 
Commissioners, Victims Unit and other 
stakeholders on new structures and future 
funding. 

•�Council member on Victims Service Project 
Group 
 

SEUPB undertook a review of the three strands 
of Measure 1.2 of Peace III delivered by the 
Consortium in 2011. The Review concluded 
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that Phase 2 should include a mixture of an 
open call and more strategic interventions. The 
Open Call has commenced and planning of any 
Strategic Interventions will take place in 2012 
following discussions with the Managing 
Authority. 

5..3. Develop our 
practical response 
to the culture of 
violence that is the 
legacy of the conflict 

 

Evidence of the 
development of our 
practical response to the 
culture of violence that is 
the legacy of the conflict 
including evidence of an 
active relationship with 
groups working in areas of 
high conflict.  

. 
 
 

Op Plan – Mar 
2011 
 
Annual report  Dec 
2011 
 
Reports to board 
and qrtrly 
monitoring 

CRC participated in a range of interagency 
responses including: 

 
•�Shared Neighbourhood Programme 
•�Greater Village Community Relations Group 
•�Rural Community Network – Beyond Belfast 
project , Rural Enablers and ASF sub group 

•�Hazelwood Community Partnership 
•�Whitewell Youth Providers Forum 
•�Interface Community Partners group 
•�Greater Village Community Relations Group 
•�South Belfast Roundtable 
•�Flags Protocol Group  
•�IAG  
•�BRIC interface advisory Group  
•�Development of barriers   transformation 

template  
•�Involvement in Newington, Brucevale and 
Flax as pilot interface areas for barrier 
transformation  

CRC Core Funding Scheme worked with 16 
groups in areas of high conflict. 

-� 174 Trust 
-� Ballynafeigh Community Development 

Association 
-� Belfast Interface Project 
-� Community Relations Forum 
-� Groundwork 
-� Public Acheivement 
-� REACT  
-� The Junction/Holywell Trust 
-� Interaction Belfast 
-� Intercomm 
-� Kilcranny House 
-� Linc Resource Centre 
-� Mediation NI 
-� North Belfast Interface Network 
-� PAKT (Lurgan) 
-� Peace and Reconciliation Group 

•� 48 V+S groups providing services and 
activities to individual victims and survivors 
were supported through the Strategic Support 
Fund (SSF)many of them in areas where 
conflict has been high –see annual report  

•� 50 successful awards were made to groups 
working with victims and survivors under the 
Development Grant Scheme (DGS)many of 
them in areas where conflict has been high –
see annual report  

•�Management of a capacity building 
programme to support volunteer befriending 
work with individual victims across NI 
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continued through training and 
developmental support with co-ordinators 
and befrienders from a range of groups 
working with individuals who have been 
affected by traumatic conflict. 

The Community Bridges Programme supported 
the following projects under this theme – 
•�174 Trust 
•�18/25 Project 
•�CFNI 
•�Cliftonville Community Regeneration 
Forum 

•�Fellowship of Messines 
•�Finaghy Crossroads Group 
•�Forthspring 
•�Kilcranny House 
•�IWIN 
•�Linc Resource Centre 
•�Link Family & Community Centre 
•�Peace Players International 
•�Short Strand Community Forum/Bridge 

Community Association 
•�St Columb’s Park House 
•�Suffolk Lenadoon Interface group 
•�Terry Enright Foundation 
•�Youth Initiatives 
•�Youthcom 
•�An Teach Ban 
•�Ardomanagh Family and Community 
Group 

•�New Border Generation 
•�North Belfast Community Development 

and Transition Group 
•�NI Alternatives 
 
•�In the EU programme (Peace III) under 
Strand 1 of the EU Programme, Addressing 
Legacy and Truth in Public Memory, one 
application is currently undergoing 
economic appraisal valued at £1.8m. 

 
•�28 projects have been awarded grant aid 

worth �13.5M under EU grants 
implementing a specific funding Strand 
(Strand 3) which seeks to: support 
innovative actions that will help prevent an 
outbreak of violence into the future by 
taking action to repair relationships and by 
engaging the wider community in peace-
building and reconciliation work; and 
supporting schemes for future generations 
which seek to address and prevent the 
outbreak of violence along the lines of 
inherited and emerging divisions in society. 
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•�30 projects have been awarded grant aid 
worth �11.1M under Strand 2 (the 
Development and delivery of innovative 
projects engaging in wider peace building 
and reconciliation work. 

 
•�113 applications have been received in the 

latest call (worth over �70m).  Following 
assessment, 37 applications (worth £18.7m) 
proceeded to Letter of Intention to Fund 
with one application, worth £1.3m, being 
considered through OFMDFM, and one 
other application worth £3.2m, undergoing 
an Economic Appraisal. 

CRC’s EU Peace III Programme supports the 
following  groups working in areas of high 
conflict: 
•�Falls Community Council 
•�YouthAction N.I. 
•�Conflict Trauma Resource 
•�LINC  Resourse Centre 
•�North West Play Resource Centre (The 

Playhouse) 
•�Youth Initiatives (YI) 
•�Creggan Neighbourhood Partnership 
•�Ashton Community Trust 
•�Victims & Survivors Trust 
•�Trauma Recovery Network  
•�Community Dialogue 
•�EXPAC 
•�Diversity Challenges 
•�Falls Women’s Centre 
•�Gaslight Media Trust 
•�Holy Trinity Centre 
•�Institute for Counselling and Personal 
Development 

•�Irish Football Association 
•�Towards Understanding & Healing 
•�YouthLink NI 
•�Seaview 
•�Forthspring 
•�Healing Through Remembering 
•�Best Cellars 
•�New Life Counselling 
•�Corpus Christi Services 
•�Cunamh 
•�Forward Learning 
•�Peace and Reconciliation Group 
•�Relatives for Justice 
•�Taughmonagh Community Forum Limited 
•�Wave Trauma Centre 

 

Page 64

4483 CRC Annual Report_Layout 1  13/11/2012  19:46  Page 64



accountability and audit 
matters 

5.4. Develop the 
Council’s strategic 
view on Truth 
Recovery, 
Remembering and 
Healing. 
 

Evidence of development 
of the Council’s strategic 
view on truth recovery, 
remembering and healing  

 

Op Plan – Mar 
2011 
 
Annual report  Dec 
2011 
 
Reports to board 
and qrtrly 
monitoring 

CRC is continuing to work with OFMDFM 
and  The Commission for Victims and 
Survivors on this issue and many others in 
relation to dealing with the past.  In addition to 
this, during 11/12 CRC continued to support 
truth recovery, remembering and healing as 
follows - 
•�The CRC Victims and Survivors Programme 

supported a range of V&S groups all of 
whom are addressing the legacy of the 
conflict and violence using Strategic Support 
Fund (SSF) and Development Grant Scheme 
(DGS) grants.   

•�48 groups were supported through Victims & 
Survivors SSF.   

•�169 awards were made to groups working 
with victims and survivors under the DGS.  

6.1. Establish the 
new governance 
arrangements of the 
Council to enable it 
to fulfil its role in an 
appropriate, 
accountable, 
transparent, safe and 
fair manner. 
 

After review, produce and 
have in place established 
governance arrangements 
of the Council to enable it 
to fulfil its role in an 
appropriate, accountable, 
transparent, safe and fair 
manner.  
 
Evidence that all public 
expenditure is allocated and 
accounted for in a full and 
proper manner in 
accordance with the 
principles of public 
expenditure in Northern 
Ireland and in compliance 
with MPNI guidance and 
the MSFM 
 
Evidence of best practice in 

Review completed 
Dec 2011 
 
Expenditure 
monitored at all 
times 
 
Reports to Finance 
and GP and Board 
 
 
 
 
NIAO audit 
complete Sept 
2011 
 
Internal audit 
reports Mar 2012 
 
Annual report Dec 

•�During 11/12 Council and its Committees 
(including Finance and General Purposes and 
Audit) met regularly as planned receiving 
and reviewing officer reports on a wide range 
of issues including expenditure monitoring. 

•�Governance review completed by Internal 
Auditors and satisfactory assurance received  

•�NIAO audit completed  
•�Implementation of all internal and external 

audits were monitored by the Audit 
Committee 

•�Annual report produced 
•�2011 – 2014 Strategic Plan published  
•�CSI response circulated and discussed 

accountability and audit 
matters 
•�CRC management of 

external and internal 
contracts to reflect best 
practice 

•�All recommendation of 
external and internal audit 
acted on  in a timely 
fashion 

 
Investigations into any 
matters  of actual or alleged 
financial or other propriety 
conducted in a transparent, 
timely and efficient manner 

2011 
 
 
As required 
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6.3. Review and 
develop the number 
and competence of 
staff to implement 
our role  
 

Evidence that the number 
and competence of our staff 
has been  reviewed in 
relation to our role and 
business plan. 

CSI review • Outcome of CSI awaited and therefore 
no related formal review of CRC has 
taken place. 

• Normal review of staff undertaken as 
part of annual appraisal process in 
11/12. 

 

 

6. 4. Promote 
equality and good 
relations through 
service delivery and 
employment 
practices  
 

Evidence of promotion of 
equality and good relations 
through service delivery 
and employment practices 
• Appointment of 

members to the CR 
Council during 2011-
2012 to reflect fair and 
equal treatment 

• Distribution of grants 
during 2011-2012 to 
demonstrate fair and 
equal treatment 

• Processes for the 
appointment of council 
staff during 2011-2012 
to reflect fair and equal 
treatment  

• Annual production of 
progress report on 
Statutory Duties 

Mar 2012 • No appointments were made to Council 
Board during 2011- 2012. 

• All CRC Grant Schemes were publicly 
advertised through our website and 
various community networks i.e. 
through Local District Council CRO’s 
and Good Relations Officers, NICVA, 
and in the case of our EU programme, 
advertising was also carried out in the 
press and through the SEUPB website.  

• All community and voluntary based 
groups had open access to the Schemes. 

• In addition, various information events 
on funding opportunities were held 
throughout the region by all the funding 
schemes. 

• Provision was made for the translation 
of the application form and guidance 
notes into other languages and well as 
for the blind/partially sighted.  

• EU Programme staff also provided the 

 

•�CRC management of 
external and internal 
contracts to reflect best 
practice 

•�All recommendation of 
external and internal audit 
acted on  in a timely 
fashion 

 
Investigations into any 
matters  of actual or alleged 
financial or other propriety 
conducted in a transparent, 
timely and efficient manner 

 
As required 

6.2. Design the 
structure of the 
Council to 
successfully deliver 
the new areas of 
work.  

Established structure of the 
Council to successfully 
deliver all areas of work. 

March 2012 •�All Council meetings convened and 
sub-committee structures established 
and working. 

•�New sub-group on communications 
established and reporting to Policy and 
Communications committee and 
Council.  

•�All Peace III Consortium Steering 
Committee and other governance 
structures for Theme 1.1 and 1.2 in 
place and operated as planned in 11/12. 

•�All reporting structures related to IFI 
operated as planned (on the Community 
Bridges Programme and Peace Walls 
initiative) 
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(including Disability 
Action plan) that 
demonstrates 
implementation of a 
relevant and timely 
programme of work. 

• Evidence of 
implementation of a 
programme of work 
focussed on 
development of good 
relations.  

 

facility to enter project information on 
behalf of those organisations with no 
internet access. 

• All grant applications received were 
processed in accordance with agreed 
Council practices/operating principles 
and received fair and equal treatment. 

• Review/complaints procedures are also 
in place. 
 

Note: Pathfinder projects are intended to provide 
temporary support for a small number of groups 
working in areas of high conflict.  All qualifying 
projects are agreed by the Council according to 
strict criteria established in agreement with 
OFMDFM (Community Relations Unit).  Funding 
can only be extended until the next available 
opportunity for application by  open competition, 
as described above.  This is normally less than 
one year. 
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•�Processes for appointment of CRC staff 
were conducted in line with best 
practice to comply with legislative 
requirements of the Equality 
Commission and employment law in 
general. 

•�During 2011/12, Council conducted 
recruitment and selection exercises for 9 
vacancies. 

•�Appointments for these vacancies were 
made as follows: 

 
Protestant: 
Male 1 
Female 3 
 
Roman Catholic: 
Male 0 
Female 5 
 
Neither: 
Male 0 
Female 0 

 
•�The recruitment and selection of the 

above 9 persons to Council staff has 
given Council the following gender and 
community background profiles in 
2011/12.  

  
•�Males 14, Females 36.    
Total 50  

 
•�Protestant Males 5,  

Catholic Males 9, 
   Neither 0.  Total 14  
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•�Protestant Females 14, Catholic 
Females 22,  
Neither 0.  Total 36.  

 
•�Protestants 19, Catholics 31, Neither 

0.  Total 50  
  
•�The Council’s overall P/RC split is 

19/31, our P/RC Male 5/9 and Female 
splits 14/22. 

  
•�The overall Male/Female split is 14/36. 
 
•�Council will continue to address the 

need to recruit more males and 
Protestants to its staff, (by means of 
welcoming statements) as vacancies for 
posts arise in the future. 

 
•�CRC would also like to develop the 

number of members of staff from a 
minority ethnic background. 

 
•�None of the 9 appointees in 2011/12 

was registered disabled. 
 
•�Council continues to monitor all data on 

an annual and triennial basis, as 
required by the Equality 
Commission.            

6.5. Deliver policy 
comment that is 
accurate and based 
on practical 
experience  
 

Evidence of a body of  
policy comment work that 
is accurate and based on 
practical experience. 

 

Op Plan – Mar 
2011 
 
Annual report  Dec 
2011 
 
Reports to board 
and qrtrly 
monitoring 

CRC provided the following policy 
comment in 11-12 - 

•�DEL, Proposed discontinuance of 
Stranmillis College and its proposed 
merger with Queen’s University 
Belfast,  

•�Arts Council , EQIA Intercultural 
Strategy,  

•�NIHE, Establishment of a Belfast city 
centre waiting list,  

•�Strategic Investment Board, Draft 
Equality Scheme,  

•�Northern Ireland Assembly, Youth 
Assembly Team,  

•�Children and Young People’s Strategic 
Partnership, Northern Ireland Children 
and Young People's Plan 2011-2014,  

•�Commission on a Bill of Rights, UK 
Bill of Rights Consultation,  
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•�OFMDFM, Social Investment Fund, 
•�OFMDFM, Draft Programme for 
Government 2011-15,  

•�DSD, Queen’s Quay Draft Masterplan,  

In addition the following EQIA’s 
responses were made - 

•�Office of Police Ombudsman NI 

•�Lisburn City Council  

•�Strategic Investment Board 

•�Newtownabbey Council  

•�NI Assembly Commission 

6.6. Maintain the 
efficient and 
effective delivery of 
services  

Evidence of  the efficient 
and effective delivery of 
services 
•�3% saving on costs by 

March 2012 •�CRC’s  3% savings plan was met (with 
the exception of an in-year bid to cover 
costs of maternity leave which was 
unknown when the budget was prepared 

 

 March 2012 through the 
greater user of internal 
resources. 

•�75% of all small grant 
applications processed 
within 12 weeks of 
receipt 

•�90% of core grant 
applications processed 
within 16 weeks of 
closing date for receipt 

•�80% of victims fund 
applications processed 
within 12 weeks of 
closing date for receipt 

•�80% of EU funded 
applications processed 
within 16 weeks of 
closing date for receipt 

•�90% of media grant 
applications processed 
within 12 weeks of 
receipt 

•�80% publications grant 
applications processed 
within 12 weeks of 
receipt. 

and not factored in to 11/12 savings 
plan). 

•�Due to the nature of V+S schemes 
(timeframe for opening and closing the 
scheme), 100% of applications to SSF 
and DGS were processed within the 
agreed and advertised timeframes. 

•�All Publications grants processed within 
12 weeks 

•�77% of CR/CD small Grants processed 
within 12 weeks (150 out of 194) 
including 76% of Pathfinder Grants 
processed with 12 weeks (22 out of 29) 

•�100% of Core Grant Applications 
processed within 16 weeks. 

•�100% (11 applications) of media grants 
were processed within 12 weeks.  

•�100% of 113 applications to the Peace 
III Open Call were assessed at Stage 1 
within the 16 week timeframe.  Due to 
the extended nature of the Stage 2 
assessment process, including 
commissioning Economic Appraisals, 
the final approval of the applications 
was outside of this timeframe. 
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